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Hundreds of thousands of transactions are completed
each year across the $5 trillion commercial real estate
industry. Each one of those transactions requires hun-
dreds of detailed facts for the participants to make
informed decisions. Access to reliable market informa-
tion can greatly improve the speed, efficiency and value
of the transaction.

CoStar Group, Inc. is the principal information provider
to the U.S. commercial real estate industry. CoStar offers
commercial real estate professionals access to the most
accurate and comprehensive database of information on
the U.S. commercial real estate market, and the largest

known digital image library of commercial properties.
CoStar delivers its extensive content through a suite

of products that provides customers with the critical
knowledge to understand market conditions, value prop-
erties, identify prospects, discover opportunities and
conduct transactions efficiently.

Whether it be CoStar Property™ to find space and posi-
tion buildings effectively, CoStar COMPS® to accurately
value an asset, CoStar Tenant®, a versatile prospecting
tool, or CoStar Connect™ to enable customers to pres-
ent their listings on their Web sites, CoStar is at work in
almost every major real estate firm in the United States.
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In thousands, except per share data 1999 2000 2001 2002
REVENUBS . . . . . . $ 30,234 $ 58,502 $ 72,513
Netincome {loss). . . ... ... ... . ... $ (12,277) $ (49,655) $ (20,161)
Net income (loss) pershare. . . ... ... ... .. ... .. .. .. $ (1.05) $ (3.28) $ (29
Weighted-average commonshares. . ... . ... ... .. ...... 11,727 15,137 15,636
Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments . . . .. .. .. $ 94,074 $ 47,101 $ 42,002
Totalassets .. ... ... .. ... ... .. ... ... ... $ 136,905 $ 145,871 $123,646
Stockholders’equity. . . . ... ... ... $ 119,697 $126,374 $ 108,019
Five Year Revenue Growth Quarterly EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes,
($’s in millions) ($’s in millions) depreciation and amortization)
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Shareholders

I am pleased to report that we not only met, but also
exceeded our profitability goals, achieving pro forma
profitability for the fourth quarter of 2001.

When we founded CoStar Group in 1987, we believed
we could meet commercial real estate professionals’
need for reliable, comprehensive online market informa-
tion and bring tremendous cost savings and efficiency
to the process.

Since 1993, we have grown from a single market with a
few hundred customers, to 50 markets and thousands
of customers. Qur product offerings have expanded from
one — CoStar Property™ — to seven major revenue pro-
ducers. Today, CoStar is an integral part of the commer-
cial real estate business, providing essential information

to our customers’ leasing, sales and valuation processes.

The industry’s adoption of CoStar as the centralized,
Internet-based information clearinghouse has greatly
improved the way information is collected and distrib-
uted. The sophisticated technology we have developed
helps brokers and owners access data quickly, dramati-
cally increasing their productivity. In fact, a recent study
conducted by The Wharton School on behalf of the

Society of Industrial and Office Realtors® notes that a sin-

gle, large brokerage firm operating in a major metropoli-
tan area could save in excess of $150,000 a year using
CoStar services.

ANAreyv L. rioraricc
President and Chief Executive Officer

| 2001 accomplishments]

In 2001, with our national platform substantially complete,
CoStar Group’s activities focused on increasing the pene-
tration of our core products in existing markets, while
striving to achieve operating profitability. The company
showed strong top line and earnings growth despite a
severe downturn in commercial real estate, proving the
resiliency of our business model. Revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2001 were $72.5 million compared
to $58.5 million for 2000, an increase of $14 million or

24 percent.

Our performance improved from a pro forma loss of $(0.42)
a share in the fourth quarter of 2000, to pro forma earnings
of $0.01 a share for the fourth quarter of 2001. We have
consistently reported pro forma results, which exclude only
purchase amottization from our acquisitions and the relat-
ed income tax benefit.

Market conditions in 2001 were the worst the U.S.
commercial real estate industry has seen in over a
decade. Leasing activity and net absorption — key indica-
tors of our clients” health — were down sharply in 2001,
well below their historic averages. We believe CoStar
Group performed well in 2001 despite such adverse
market conditions because our products represent a
substantial cost savings, are mission critical and intro-
duce new revenue opportunities to our customers. The
renewal rate for our core customers — commercial real
estate professionals — remains above go percent.
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Between July 2001 and March 2002, CoStar signed long-
term, national renewal and expansion agreements with
many of the industry’s leading firms, including CB Richard
Ellis, Cushman & Wakefield and Grubb & Ellis.

We introduced two additional products that offer signifi-
cant benefits to our customers. In March 2001, we
released CoStar Connect™, a service that licenses CoStar’s
technology and content to commercial real estate firms
and enables them to market their for-lease and for-sale
listings on their company Web site, CoStar Connect
addresses the shortcomings of our competitors’ first-gen-
eration services, which provided little more than a basic
software application. We believe our product is the only
one that provides both state of the art tech-

extending leadership position

CoStar Group continues to enjoy a definitive leading mar-
ket position in the commercial real estate information
industry. Over the past two years, CoStar has competed
against dozens of unsuccessful market entrants who,
collectively, lost hundreds of millions of dollars in failed
attempts to challenge our business model. One of the
strongest competitors we've faced, RealtylQ, closed its
doors in 2001. Some of the more recent business models
touted in the market — commercial board-managed
information exchanges — require the broker to manually
input and maintain listings, and limit competitive bro-
kers’ and owners’ access to that information. We don’t
believe a business model that

nology as well as content, relieving cus-
tomers of the time-consuming chore of
inputting and maintaining their listings on
their Web sites. More than 150 customers
are now using CoStar Connect, with many
switching from a competitive service.

The CoStar Office Report™, launched in
October 2001, marked the first time CoStar
had ever aggregated its massive building
level data in a published report. An exten-
sion of our CoStar Advisory™ analytic
reports, The CoStar Office Report provides
in-depth current and historical data covering over 1,000
sub-markets within 35 of the nation’s major metropolitan
office markets, including details such as absorption rates,
vacancy rates, rental rates, average sales prices, cap
rates, existing inventory and current construction activity.
CoStar offers these quarterly reports for 35 individual
markets and a complete hardbound national edition.

places the burden on the broker
to maintain listings represents a
viable outsourcing solution.
What’s more, we believe open
access to information is critical
for an efficient marketplace.

CoStar’s comprehensive data-
base and proactive research
model provide a major competi-
tive advantage in this regard.
As of December 31, 2001, our
approximately 600 researchers
were tracking over 23 billion square feet of commercial
real estate, or over 950,000 properties; 2.8 billion square
feet of space available for lease; 640,000 sale compara-
bles; 65,000 properties for sale; and 750,000 tenants.

In addition, CoStar maintains the industry’s largest
proprietary library of digital images, with over 1.3 million
building photos, floor plans and plat maps.
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completing product integration

Our next stage of product development is focused on
integrating all of our subscription-based products tc a
common Internet platform. CoStar Tenant 4.0 — the first
Web-enabled version of our business-to-business
prospecting product — was released in June 2001.
Concurrently, CoStar COMPS® and CoStar Exchange®
were redesigned with a common platform, enabling cus-
tomers to view similar menus and commands based on
the same intuitive navigation scheme and functionality.

With the planned release of the first Internet version of
our flagship product, CoStar Property™, in fall 2002, our

customers will be able to access all of the CoStar informa-

tion services they subscribe to through a single interface.
In addition, advanced communication features, including
the ability to share information with their clients across
the Internet through CoStar Connect, will deliver signifi-
cant added value for our customers.

.....

- positioning for continued growth

While we enjoy a dominant market position, we believe
CoStar Group is in the early stages of penetrating the
potential market for commercial real estate information
services. In fact, 5o percent of our subscription revenue
contract growth in 2001 came from new customers. The
infrastructure we have in place is highly leverageable,
and our strong balance sheet — we finished 2001 with
$42 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments and no long-term debt — leaves us well
positioned to exploit the opportunities we’ve identified.
We believe we can continue to produce strong revenue
growth by reaching new customers with our core prod-
ucts and selling additional products to existing cus-
tomers. Additional markets, either domestically or over-
seas, and new products are expected to provide us with
additional opportunities.

Over the past two years, we made significant additions to
our management team through recruitment, acquisitions
and internal promotions. That seasoned group is
arguably the strongest and most experienced team in the
industry. We are now working diligently to upgrade the
depth of our middle management in two core areas —
Research and Sales.

We plan to increase our sales force by 30 percent this
year and are continuing to invest in comprehensive train-
ing to help our account executives effectively cross-sell
our entire product roster.

A major strength of our business model is our ability

to grow revenues over a relatively fixed cost structure.
We believe we are poised to enter the next stage of
sustained growth in revenue and earnings. We are excited
about the opportunities we see for the near and longer
term and look forward to reporting our progress to you.

Thank you for your continued support.

Andrew C. Florance
President and Chief Executive Officer
CoStar Group, Inc.
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-recognition & achievements

e 2001 Deloitte & Touche Technology Fast 500
Third consecutive year

¢ 2001 Deloitte & Touche Technology
Maryland Fast 50
Third consecutive year

o 2001 Washington Techway Fast 5o

s Forbes Best of the Web — B2B, Real Estate
Second consecutive year
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Over the past 12 months, CoStar Group signed new 2001

contracts and renewal agreements with many of the
leading national commercial real estate firms, including:

Commercial Real Estate Services

¢ (B Richard Ellis

* Cushman & Wakefield
e Grubb & Ellis

* julien J. Studley Inc.

* Marcus & Millichap

e The Staubach Co.

Property Owners

e Equity Office

¢ Prologis

¢ Vornado Realty Trust

Lenders/Financial Services

® GMAC Commercial Mortgage
e Fannie Mae
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costar property™

CoStar Property delivers a complete inventory of office
and industrial properties that subscribers use to research
leasing options, market their properties, and analyze
market conditions and competitive property positions.
With CoStar Property’s comprehensive content, extensive
image library and abundant report options, users can
easily produce high-quality, customized presentations.
Breaking industry news, delivered electronically to cus-
tomers’ desktops, complements the verified listings in
CaStar Property.

costar tenant®

CoStar Tenant is a detailed business-to-business
prospecting and analytical tool providing commercial real
estate professionals with the most comprehensive tenant
information available. CoStar Tenant profiles tenants in
commercial buildings across the United States and pro-
vides updates on lease expirations — one of the prod-
uct’s key features — occupancy levels, growth rates and
numerous other facts. Delivering this information via the
Internet allows users to target prospective clients quickly
through a searchable database that identifies only those
tenants meeting certain criteria.

| costar comps®

CoStar COMPS provides comprehensive, national coverage
of comparable sales information in the commercial real
estate industry. It is the industry’s most comprehensive
database of comparable sales transactions designed for
professionals who need to research property comparables,
identify market trends, expedite the appraisal process and
support property valuations. The service is provided
through a Web-based system that allows users to search
the database on a subscription basis or on demand.




- costar connect™ |

CoStar Connect allows commercial real estate firms to
license CoStar’s technology and content to market property
listings on their corporate Web sites. Customers enhance
the quality and depth of their listing information through
access to CoStar’s database of content and digital images.
The service automatically updates and manages cus-
tomers’ online property information, providing comprehen-
sive coverage of their listings and significantly reducing
their expense of building the Web site content and func-
tionality.

/
Costar
Group,
CoStar Exchange is an online marketplace for buying Inc
and selling commercial properties. Customers use ’
the easily accessible database, which is the industry’s
premier setvice that includes correlating data on space Annual
availability, tenants, comparable sales and digital
images, to post and search for properties quickly Report
and efficiently. The information is distributed through 2001

a broker-centric model on a Web-based browser and
represents an efficient means for sellers to reach a large
pre-qualified audience and for buyers to more effective-
ly identify target properties.

costar.-office report™ |

The CoStar Office Report provides in-depth current and
historical data covering 35 of the nation’s major metro-
politan office markets. Published quarterly, each market
report includes details such as absorption rates, vacancy
rates, rental rates, average sales prices, cap rates, exist-
ing inventory and current construction activity. This data
is presented using standard definitions and calculations
developed by CoStar and offers real estate professionals
critical and unbiased information necessary to make
intelligent real estate decisions. The CoStar Office report
is a product of CoStar Advisory™, a line of analytic reports
that provides important market metrics at the market and
sub-market level for the Atlanta and Dallas markets.
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metropolis™

The Metropolis software system is a single interface that
combines commercial real estate data from multiple
information providers into a comprehensive resource.
The Metropolis software allows a user to input a proper-
ty address and then view detailed information on that
property from multiple information providers, including
CoStar. This technology offers commercial real estate
professionals a simple and convenient solution for inte-
grating a wealth of third-party information and propri-
etary data and is currently available for the Southern
California market.
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costar marketplace™

CoStar Marketplace provides an on-line means for the
commercial real estate and related business community
to direct their advertising to the appropriate decision
makers. Customer benefits from this advertising service
include highly targeted distribution, higher visibility and
cost efficiency in delivering advertising materials to tar-
geted audiences.

costar ares 2000°

CoStar ARES is a leading contact management and busi-
ness development tool for commercial real estate profes-
sionals. It is a commercial real estate specific add-on to
ACT! 2000, a leading sales software program. As a value-
added application, CoStar ARES is used as an office-wide
repository for contacts, property listings and compara-
bles. CoStar ARES provides marketing capabilities, inte-
grated reporting and seamless importing of data from
other CoStar products.
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S (In thls report the words We,”, “our ”t“us,” “CoStar or the “Company refer to CoStar Group, Inc and.i 1ts sub- Lo oo
S srdlarres Thrs report also refers tg:our Web srte but rnformatlon contamed on that 51te is ot part of thrs re ort G .
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S CoStar Group, Inc; 1s the leadmg prov1der of mformatlon serv1ces tothe U: S. commerc1al real estate 1ndustry CoStar s- R
L su1te - of products offers. customiers access via-the Internet 0 the most comprehensrve, verified database of commercral réal -4 -
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estatemformat1on1nover50US markets N . P S A A I
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. knowledge to complete transactions, by offerrng the most. comprehensrve tlmely and. standardized 1nformatron on U S.o-t :
Do commercral redl € estate. CoStar delrvers its content to, Customers through 10 distinct products and services. Our wrde array:- ', ,' S
o of drgltal service offermgs mcludes a leasmg marketplace, a sellrng marketplace, sales comparable information, data host— o f ‘; i

" ing-for clients’ web Sités, dCClSIOH support contact management -tenant information; property data- mtegratron, property n
: B marketmg and mdustry news.. Today, we are creatrng a centralrzed digital marketplace where the commiercial real estate = .
= voo " industry and related ‘businesses can contlnuously interact ahd eas1ly facrlrtate transacnons ‘over. the Internet due to efflc1ent - T v
y exchange of accurate 1nformat1on supplled by CoStar 1‘_\ R T '

S Smce its foundmg in 1987, CoStar/s strategy has been to’ prov1de commerc1al real estate profess1onals wrt crmcal et
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T We have a number of assets thatrprovrde a unique foundatron for this marketplace, 1nclud1ng the most comprehen- S e
R » sive, proprietary, national database in theindustry; the. largest ‘researchdepartment in the industry; proprretary technolo- -~ S
gy, including in- house product development a broad suite of drgltal prodiicts a and ‘Services; and what we’ belleve is the .+ ¢
. { largest number, Of partrcrpatmg organrzatrons "Our database has been constructed 6ver, more- than a-decade by a research ST
R - department: that riakes updates datlyto ouf database throughout the year. In‘addition to our ‘internal efforts to grow the R

. database, we have obtarned and assimilated over 50- proprietary: -databases. As of December 31, 2001,.gur database’con--~ | ‘- -
ce T tamed mformatron on more than 23 blllron square “feet. of commercral real estate, over‘ 640, OOO sales comparables, .

,
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AR approxrmately 750 OOO tenants and covered more than $85 billion in propertres for sale A N oo,

R e - -

‘llndustry@vemew *"\\« . K ;“‘f‘,l,} ‘\ R ;, ', - - \/\‘ _,;:‘: _’,,_; r;'\: a . . g /, . ///p,_ - : : »7.,

o P  We belleve that the market for commercral real estate mformatlon is vast based-ori the,varlety, volume and value'of 2.
- transactions related o comrnercral real estate. Each transaction ‘has multiple infermation requlrements, and ini ofder to. o '1 e
facrhtate transactrons, mdustry partrc1pants must have extensrve, accurate and current mformatlon Members of the com- - B
- - mercial real estate and related business communrty requrre daily access to current ‘data- such-as rental rates, vacancy rates, AP
e tenant movements, sales comparables, supply, new . construcnon, absorptron rates and’ other 1mportant market develop- L
B ments to carry out their businesses effectively. There is a:strong ‘need foran effrcrent marketplace, ‘where commercral real -
-7~ -estate professronals can’ exchange mformatron, evaluate opportunltres usmg natronal standard1zed data, and mteract with © 7o 0
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S - - -
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o The commercial real estate and related business ‘community generally operates.in an inefficient-marketplace because ’ S
- of the fragmented approach to gathering and éxchanging information within the mafketp1ace.,Various;“c')'rganiz'_ations\‘,‘
IR iricluding hundreds of brokerage fitms, directory publishers and local research companies, have attempted to collect data
-~ - on specific markets and develop software to analyze the information they have independeénitly gathered. This highly frag-

* mented methodology has resulted in duplication of effort in the collection and analysis of information, excessive intérnal ' ‘

_cost and the creation of non-standardized data containing varying degrees of accuracy and comprehensiveness, resulting .. - -

-+ .inaformidable information gap: -
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" The creation’ of an -efficient digital marketplace for commiercial real estate requires an infrastructure including a
national, standardized databasé; accurate and comprehensive research capabilities; and intensive, real-time participant
interaction. By combining its extensive database, approximately 600 experienced researchers, technological expertise and ,‘
broad customer base, CoStar believes that it has created the platform for this national exchange. Our infrastructure com- ST
bined with Intetnet technology has allowed CoStar to develop a truly centralized and interactive digital marketplace.
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. CoStars Comprehensive, National Database

PR o YC/oStzglr has spent 15 years building and Veicqhiring\ a,pr-oprieta\ry cfiét’abase-éf‘commérci’zil real estat’e'inforfnatito‘n,‘ l
- which.includes information on'leasing, sales, comparable sales; tenants, demand statistics and digital images. o
\ © Asof December 31,2001, our proprietéry datébéée covered 0. markets and contained: - o
) e more than 23\billi/on<squafé feet of U.S. commiercial réa_l estate; o : ‘ coe e y
- © over 950,000 properties; % ) I T R ey )
‘ “é‘ap‘pro;(imatel‘y"ZTS billion square feet of space available; U e
, ©.over 65,000 properties for sale; - S T Lo L
. e approximately. 750,000 tgnént's loccup'yihg ¢ommetcia1/reél estate ‘sp:ace; o . R f RS o
e ‘r‘no;:el\tha‘n 640,000 sales tréhsactions vali}gd'at over '$769;biilion;~and . ’ ‘ f ) ] .
) T e d\{ér 1.3%milhlion‘high—ré»s\oluti‘on d‘igita‘l_images\, iﬁc}uding ‘buil'djng phqﬁographs, acr\ial;'phc')togra;ﬁhs, plat maps and ‘
- floor plans. R T s JRN ) - o ) T
o R This highly cdﬁipl,ex database is cqmpiiséd’of hundreds Qf'data ﬁe\lgis,“t’racking‘ "su‘ch‘ca"tegosie‘s as:
 ; - E>"‘L\ocati‘cb)n o BRRY o o ?Mortgﬁgé\and deed information - ' - e o
e Site and zoning inforrhétién T "°_For-"s\al—e information” ~ © - ‘ )
© Building characteristics ) \ o Income and eScpense fljStOi’iéS: o SRED R L
. o Space availability B - o'Tenant names . . o o o «
. s Taxﬂassessm‘ent:s S o C - ?,Leawse‘,expirg'tipns. L : B - /
- I o Ownership "~ + - S o - '@Contéct inf/(')‘r’m;lt:ionj ‘ ) T )

.. - oSales comparables - .o Historical trends- ~ - S ‘ ' L
 CoStar Research ~ ... T N
. We have developed a sophisticated “data‘coll,ect'i(')n organization utilizing a ‘multi-:facetedyresearch process. In 2001,
* our researchers drove over one million miles, conducted hundreds of thousands of on-site building inspections, examined * -
- more than 68 million public records and interviewed millions of tenants, owners and brokers. . - .77 - A
‘ " Research Department. As of December 31,2001, approximately 600 commercial.real estate research professionals were - .
=+ engaged in research for'CoStar. Every reséarch employee.undergoes ‘an extensive training program to maintain’ consisten't -
‘ research methodsand processes. Our researchers collect and analyze commercial real estate information through millions of
_phone calls, e-mails, Internet updates and faxes each year, in-addition to field inspections, public records review; news mon-
 itoring and direct mail. Each researcher is responsible for maintaining the accuracy and reliability of the database. As part of
o their update process, researchers develop cooperative relationships with industry professionals that allow them to gather use-
.2 . fulinformation. Because of the importance commercial real estate professionals place on our data and our prominent posi-
‘ " tion in-the industry, these professionals frequently take the initiative and report transactions to our researchers. . = "

~ . .
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“ - ‘CoStar-has an extensive field research effort that permits physical inspection of prbpeﬁties\in',ofdér,to‘fiqd addition- ‘
.- al inventory, photograph properties and verify existing information. Some of these researchers use CoStar trucks equipped

.-+ with-Global Positioning Systems, which use satellites to keep track of the tr@é}gs’,lo&a_tion and pinp'oint_b\iiilding {ocations.. :
"~ i+ Each CoStar truck uses wireless technology td-,ﬁ:agl& and transmit field data. A c'lispajc‘ch'center“ih»'the Company’s Bethesda: e
. office manages the entire\day;to/—day"ﬁelc‘i Qpéfa’t\iods\‘\;vh‘il/e’ﬁsing’tfackir;é software'to,monitor each r/es;e,érch‘ér’s progress. '
- As of December, 31, 2001, CoStar had 39-trucks used by field researchers in markets throughout the United States. The © © .-
S e it inspection consists of photographing the building, measuring the buildirig (if necessary), counting parking spaces;, ;.
7, assessing property condition and construction, and gathering tenant information. Certain researchers canvass properties, - ©
" interviewing tenants suite by suite. Other researchers conduct fieldwork in county courthouses-and public records offices.” )

> - In addition; many of our field researchers are photographers who-take photographs of commiercial real estate properties, . -
< Jfor CoStar to'add to the collection of CoStar’s digital images in our database. . - LT

.\ o' License Agreements. We license a“small portion of our data from public record providers, and licensing agreements * ~ - .,z

. ith these entities provide for our use-of - portion of their national property ownership information in the enhancement - - - T
~and development of various CoStar services. . -+ . " S e e s e T e

~_ Management and Quality Control Systems. In 2001, we contitiued to implement our automated and non-automat- -

-~ ed controls to énsure the integrity of thedata collection process. A large \npmber’df ‘automated data qualify tests check ‘
. for potential errors including occupancy date-conflicts; available square footage greater than building area, typical floor” . -

R . space greater than land area, and éxpired leases. Our non-automated quality control procedures.include: . - )
. e calling our information sources on recently-updated properties to re-verify information; -, -~ 0 o .
, o reviewing commercial real estate periodicals for. transactions to cross-check our research; = 0 ' -
T ./ o performing periodic research dudits and field checks.to determirie if we'correctly canvassed all buildings; ‘
. . o providiag training and retraining to our research. professionals to ensure-accurate data 'cbmgﬁ'iliat'iori;' and-
.'e compiling measurable performarice metrics for research teams and mariagers for feedback on data quality. EEVIN
‘.~ . ... - Finally, one of the most important and effective quality control measures-we rely on is feedback, garnered through'
“- -, regular client surveys taken from the commercial real estate professionals using our data every day. =, _~ SV
' . Proprietary Technology -~ . . - T Al T g LD T e e s B
, ..+ In-House Product Development and-Information Technology Team.”As of December 31, 2001,-CoStar had a'staff . - . _
_ . _of approximately 65 product development and information technology professionals who focused on'developinganidcre- .~
<« ' ating enhanced products, designing systems to ensure continuous improvement in data’quality, improving the speed of

~ _dara deliVe;y, and building infrastructure capable Qf-s‘Lippor:ting ‘CoS‘tva\r,’s‘-compr_e/henélivc database and image librafy. In:
o .. 2001, this.team completed the development of ‘several new. Web products and ‘enhanced other Web enabled software: -

products that-use the Internet for, delivery. of content and digital images, ‘On.an ongoing basis, these professionals make
“~'modifications to internal applications to’implement efficiencies.and controls that ultimately produce quality improve- .+
. .7 .ments to the d/é‘taba\se.‘They regularly impléement product enharicérents, includig expanded features and ‘new graphic -~
"~ design. To increase the speed of data collection, quality control réview and data delivery, the product development and
“* - - information technology team makes regular adjustments t¢ internal systems. I addition, this team is responsible for devel-"

"~ ‘oping the infrastructure to.appropriately support a.database with the size and complexity of CoStar’s databasel L e e
© Y Computer and Commz_miciztz:oné‘ Hardware/Software Systems. We maintain Windows servers in support-of the data- . <7 =
o~ . base arid a national internal frame relay network. to allow rernote researchers real:time access, to, the database. We store
_+ 7 full data back-ups off site. We use clientserver software to manage bur internal data collection. In addition, over the-past .-
. ‘decade'we have developed and refined our own software systems, which collect building-specific data, track commercial-
J 7 real ‘estate companies and individuals in the industry; distribute data and facilitate operations.~ - - "7 L TT ] e
’ N N - ‘/:""»" - ‘ ’ - T ‘ ERRPRE L Coh T y\,~\‘ Vo
Products and Services . ', e R TR
"% Our various products and services are describedin detailin the following paragraphs. ~ ~ © - - oo o 7
N ~'CoStar Property™. CoStar Property delivers to subscribéts a complete inventory of office and industrial properties . - ,
©+ .and has fostered the development of our digital leasing marketplace. Subscribers use CoStar Property to research leasing " - -~
o . ' - L «‘ , ~ffr‘:‘\ ' ' ‘~ ) P ‘\' s o .
f v (J - g S o - - . , ' " ! ; - ”’
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o - -“evant properties-in the database matching their search criteria, including photographs.™ . - e

- - CoStar Exchqng'emf, CoStar Exchange is'an 6n-,ljné mafk‘etb]acé for the l—Juy/ing'zfmd sellmg of cofrirﬁ_eréial propefties'. T

7~ Advisory™,

~ - B T - . .. ; . N N ’ . RPN N v - . oo .,
s . oL N ‘ <=
s Coe . " LT

- - options, analyzée market conditions -and.competitive- property”positions, and prodice multimédia client presentations. -

_++ " Members of-the broader commercial ‘real estate community, including non-CoStar subscribers, utilize. CoStar- Property =

- “extensively to market their properties. Subscribers can query CoStar Property with any combination of pertinent criteria, , _
' combining any of approximately 100 data fields from categories such as building size, location, building characteristics, - .
.. spdce availability; or ownership. CoStar Property’s search engine scans through hundreds of millions of square feet of -
_ 'space.ini a specified market in seconds to find all the properties mieeting the search criteria. Our subscribérs can'select from" -
- over 80 customizable reports; presenting space availability, comparable sales, tenant activity, market statistics, photo-
_ .~ graphs, and fleor plans. Users can.export and edit reports, photos and floor plans to help determine the feasibility of a”
<. specific space for the user’s needs: Our clients also use CoStar Property to analyze market conditions by: calculating cirr-

- Tent vacancy.rates, absorption rates or average rental rates; - . - . O ) T A

v

- - ' CoStar Tenant®. CoStar Tenant is a'detail_edfbusiness—to-,Bus\m,ess‘prospécting and analytical tool for.commercial réal .

~“. - estate professionals. Available via the Intérnet and a deskrop application; CoStar Tenant delivers detailed information pro-_ -~

'~ filing the tenants occupying commercial buildings by tracking tenants throughout the United States. A key service feature

~ islease expiration information. Subscribers use CoStar Tenant to gather information about particular tenants, identify and
.. target the most {ikely tenants to lease space, ascertain all tenants in 2 particular building, understand trends arid the under-

- - lying demand for commercial real estate; locate and ‘target the tenants most likely to need representation for- their real

estate requiréments, and pinpoint the tenants most likely to buy a particular vendor’s'goods and services. . . .. -

| ' “CoStar COMPS®. CoStar COMPS is a tool for lenders, brokers, apprai/sers;'mvestors and cdrpo_faté real ésflaté executives

.. who need to. research property comparables, identify market trends, expedite the appraisal process, support propeity valua-

- . tions; and locate prospective customers using the database of buyers, sellers and brokers. CoStar COMPS provides compre-

.. - hensive, national information"on comparable sales information in'the commercial real estdte industry. This service is provided
- through a Web-based system and includes information on sale prices, inéome and expenses, capitalization rates, loan dataand - - |

- other key details. Customers may search t_he\proprietary database of comparable sale information using multiple search param- ~ .

" eters, including location, property type; square footage, price range and number of units: Customers receive a report of all rel™ = - .

" As of December 31, 2001, the database contained over 65,000 commercil properties for sale with a’combined asset value

" -.of approximately $85 billion. This information is- distributed in:a,;brokér-centrfc model through- é_/se'cu‘re Web-based - - | -

. browser where sellers and brokers of properties are able to list extensive information-about their properties for sale on
- the site at 1o ‘cost. The site affords an efficient means for ‘these sellers to feach a large-universe of potential buyers. Sellers-

" of investment-grade properties have the Additional-option of selecting limited, secure distribution of their properties in . -

order to address confidentiality requirements. The CoStar Exchange service' integrates the content developed through,

" years df feséa;ch under CoStar Property, /C\oStaf Tenant, CoStar COMPS and other CoStar services., -

.« 7. CoStar Conmect™. CoStar Connect allows.commercial real estate fitms to-licénse CoStar’s technology 'and content

- to matket property listings on their corporate web sites. This service offers-clients access to CoStar’s.content and digital. -
", images in a service that seamlessly updates and manages the-client’s on-line property inférmation. It enables commercial
" real estate professionals.to ‘enhance the quality and depth of the listing informiation-on their Web site. by incorporating
,~data fields from CoStar’s national database. CoStar Connect also adds new technology capabilities to company web sites” _ -
- such as sﬁea’ich engines, tailofed space queries, space calculators; so_phjstica?ed mapping and 360° virtual tours. © -~ - -
. " CoStar Office-Report™. In the fourth quarter of 2001,.CoStar-began publishing the CoStar Office Report, which *- -~
- provides in-depth historical and current data covering over 1,000 sub-markets within'35 of the nation’s major metropol- -
“'- itan office markets, including details such as absorption rates, vacancy rates, rental rates, average sales prices, cap rates,
\existing inventory,-and current construction activity. This data is presented ‘using standard-definitions and calculations
developed. by CoStar, and offers real estate professionals critical and unbiased informatior necessary to make intelligent -
- . real estate decisions, accurately value real estate assets, manage-facilities efficiently, reduce lending risk, achieve 6ptimum Lo
“real estate portfolio-performance and' compete effectively in the industry. CoStar. Office Report is a product of CoStar
a line of analytic reports that provides important market metrics at the imarket and sub-market level for'the
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T CoStar News”’ QOur Web srte, our CoStar servrces ‘and out e- mall news drspatches have become an accepted sourcé

'

v

. of reliable industry news. 1n 2001, we publlshed over 7,700 news stories. Our NewsWirg feature keeps chents mformed
of late- breakmg commerc1al real estate news such as, deals 51gned acquxsmons and groundbreakrngs o -

MetropolstM The Metropolrs software system isa smgle 1nterface that combmes commercxal real estate data from ’

’ 'multrple information provrders into a comprehenswe resource. The Metropolrs software allows a user ‘to inpiit a proper- - .

* ty address and then’ view detaxled information. on. that property from multrple mformanon proV1ders 1nclud1ng CoStar
products This technology offers commercral real estdte profess1onals a srmple and’ convenrent ‘solution for, mtegratmg a-
‘wealth of th1rd party information_ and proprletary data, and is currently avallable for the Southern Calrforma market

CoStar Marketplacem CoStar Marketplace prov1des an on- ine means for the commercral real estate and related

bus1ness communlty to. direct advertlsmg to the appropriaté decision:makers. We currently deliver this service through our

. CoStar services 'and via our Web site, This service beriefits our clients by provrdmg them with increased drstnbutlon, thh—
'\ er v151b1hty, ‘and a more cost- effectlve way to. reach thetr targeted audrence for thelr advemsmg materlals ‘

CoStar ARES ZOOO® CoStar ARES 2000 is a leadmg contact management and busmess tool for commercral real
‘ estate professronals CoStar ARES 2000 works m*con]uncnon ‘with ACT! 2000 and turns, ACT?into a real estate pro-'
ducnvrty system by prov1d1ng commercral real estate elements that'are not pr0v1ded by ACT ' Users of CoStar ARES 2000

“can 1mport data from’ other CoStar serv1ces into CoStar ARES 2000 S Y T
Clrents o S R ST R S S A T P
- . , : - o~ I . W -

We -draw’ cllents from acrossithe commercral real estate and related busrness comrnumty Commerc1al real estate bro—

* kers have tradmonally formed the largest portiofi of CoStar, clients; however we also provide services - to owners, land C

. lords, financial 1nst1tut10ns, vendors, appraisers, mvestment banks and other partles mvolved in comrnercral real estate :

The followmg chart hsts representatrve customers 1n varrous categorles I s: e
Brokerage ) T ) Lenders, lInvestment Bankers ‘ I’ Appratsers, Accountants SR 2 i
Cushman &Wakefleld N ~ Bankers Trust Company ‘ - ‘Arthur Andersen . DA
"CB Richard Ellis ~ e *'Credit Suisse First Boston; | - KPMG -+, e
Grubb & Ellis. IO TRT SRS GMAC Commercial Mortgage PrlcewaterhouseCoopers LT e
- Jones Lang LaSalle R Metrill Lynch 7 o .. Deloitte and Touche . = ~: . "
Inslgma/ESG R R ‘Bank of America T ‘? e STV e
*Julien J. Studley ST j Wells Fatgo ' - RV A e T e
_The-Staubach Company R A ashmgtonsMutual P L Y Lo
Carter&tAssocrates e World Savmgs o Lo s e ‘
~Colliers. % .1 ., T Fannre Mae oo o IO
Binswanger o oo ow R I
Marcus&Mtlhchap ) O CIE PR S OIS W el
Kennedyerson Propert1es LT SN B S
DaumCommerc1alRealEstate S e T T T e R
AdvantlsRealEstateServ1ces R TR A T T
fAUS EqumesRealty , o - ’1 A f‘;,“ ) . Sl ,“"‘0’ -

REHS Ry ;" ; G Owners and Developers Vendors LT R
Boston Properties O S I Hmes REERT - Intethpace w e e
CarrArnenca S "Trammell Crow’ Company NN Kastle Systems N 2
- Equity. Office Propertles o ) TrtzecHahn\Corporanon SRS . G
. Prentiss Propertles AR " Gale'8 Wentworth' ‘ S RN P T
Prologrs S e s R Manulife Financial . o 7 e ‘

N (A Industnal Developments 1nternat10nal N

N e [ R : T . E
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’ - Institutional Advisors, oo

’Govemmem\AgencieS/ o - Property Managers. . - . Asset Manager
Céljnt)} of Los Angeles P - Transwestern . - | AEW Capital Management -
. Fairfax County Dev. Authority - = . Leggat McCall Properties - Jones Lang LaSalle
~ Montgomery County Dept. of Public Works - Lincoln Property Company =~ Legg Mason - ; o
© - 'NYCEconomic Development - - - PMRealty Group -~~~ - " ' LendLease Real Estate Investments

.U:S. General Services Administration ~ - . ‘ L ~ UsAA Real Estate Company

- As of December 31, 2001; no single client accounted for more than 5% of our revenues. Over 90% of our revenues
- arise from subscription based clients under long term contracts. - : :

Saﬂesmdeﬂ(eﬁng‘ - - ‘ /
| As of December 31,2001, we had over 13 sales, marketing and customer ‘support employees; with the majority of
our direct sales force located in field sales offices. Our sales teams are primarily geographically focused and located in over

27 field sales offices'in our largest U.S. markets. Our offices typically serve as the platform for our in-market sales, client

 sefvice, and field research operations for their respective regions. The sales force is responsible for selling to new prospects,
- fenewing existing client contracts and identifying cross-selling oppottunities. B o :

Our sales strategy is to aggressively attract new clients, while providing ongoing incentives for existing clients to sub- .
scribe to-additional services. Our field salespeople primarily focus on three product areas: Information Solutions; eMedia
and ARES 2000. The Information Solutions sales personnel focus on selling CoStar Property, CoStar Tenant, CoStar -
COMPS; CoStar Exchange, CoStar Connect, CoStar Office Reports and Metropolis. Many of these salespeople have sig-

‘nificant commercial real estate experience, allowing them to take a consultative sales approach. Within this group, we -

" have a Vice President of major accounts, who focuses solely on meeting the special needs of the Company’s largest clients. .
. The eMedia sales personnel sell CoStar Connect and CoStar Marketplace. Many of these sales peopleé have an advertis- ' -
ing sales background or éxperience/ in commercial real estate. The ARES 2000 sales persorinel focus on selling CoStar .

CARES2000. . e , : : o

-~ We seek to make our services essential to our clients” businesses. To encourage clients to use our sérvices regularly,

.- we generally charge fixed monthly amounts rather than fees based on actual system usage. Our clients’ monthly charges

* .- - are based on the number of sites, organization size, the company’s business focus, and the number of services to which a
* client subscribes. I - T C

. Ourcustomer service and support staff is charged with installing and training our client base, as well-as ensuring high .
client satisfaction by providing on-going support. The customer service and support staff handles all facets of customer
relations and Kave primary front-line responsibility for customer care. . ° . ' : ‘

0 Our primary marketing methods include: service demonstrations, direct marketing, trade show and industry events, .

_ . print advertising, and client referrals. Direct'marketing is-the most cost-effective means for us to find prospective clients. .

~ 7 Our direct marketing efforts include direct mail, e-mail and telemarke;ing,‘and make eXtensive use.of our unique, pro-

- prietary database. Once we have identified 4 prospective client, we have found the most effective sales method is 2. serv-
* ice. demonstration. Our advertising includes traditional print advertising, Interriet banners and private network banners. 7
We use various forms of advertising for brand identity, message reinforcement, and potential client identification. We also

- attend industry trade shows and seminars to reinforce our relationships with our core user groups. '

" Competition .

The market for information systems and services generally is competitive and rapidly changing. In the commercial .
‘real estate industry, the principal competitive factors for commercial real estate information aré: ‘ " ;

N v

° quality and depth of the underlying databases;
Lo e price; SR L - o :
- . o ease of use, flexibility, and fuﬁctionality of the software; ' . R
- o timeliness of the data; . e SR :

. o breadth of geographic covc?rage and services offered;

'
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" o perception that the service offered is the, industry standard;, -~ . . . -7 T R
g | © proprietary nature of methodologies, databases and technical resources; . * |- . e RN
) o effectiveness of marketing and sales efforts; N P S
" o client service and support; . . I N
o'vendor reputation; © . - - o R ‘ A
' o’brand loyalty among customers; and * - < ST e
o capital tesources. T . D R B S .
We compete directly and indirectly for.customers with the following categories of companies: . .- .
; + - e on-lineservices or Web sites targeted to commercial real estate brokers, buyers and sellers of commercial real estate  ~ .©
DA properties, insurance companies, mortgage brokers and lenders, such as LoopNet, Inc.; .= " . B v
. . o publishers and distributors of information services, including regional providers and smaller local.providers, and o
‘ national print publications; such as Black’s Guide; .~ .~ . " - A T S
N U ) ) - : i -, ST - . - . e
o [ocally controlled real‘estate boards, exchanges or associations sponsoring property listing services; @ .” . o
 companies that provide software to access commercial real estate information, such as Xceligent Inc.; S
‘o inhouse research departments operated by somie commeicial real estate brokersy .o . i .
"+ - o consortiums of real estate’companies formed tozexplore opportunities in technology; and . - S )
ép'ublic’r{::cor'dprovidé‘r's.‘ IR S R NI E
- As the digital real estate marketplace develops, additional c‘ompetitors'»\(including,companiéé”,\;vhich—cqtﬂd have
Lo greater access to.data, financial, product development, technical, and marketing resources than we do).may. enter the mar- - J
7. ket and competition' may intensify. While we believe that'we have successfully differentiated ourselves from existing Comi- - E .
" petitors, competition could materially harm our business. .- =~ oo T e
. Proprietary Rights. .- =~ -~ <~ i .7 T P L
- To protect our proprietary righits in our methodologies; database, software, trademarks and other intellectual prop- -
’ + * erty, we depend upon-a combination of: + - - .. . 0T ) o N e '
o trade secret, copyright, trademark and-other laws; : R T
) - o nondisclosure; noncompetition and other contractual provisions with employees and consultants; - . ’
’ . _olicense agreements with customers; *. . oo T R S A A P
- - patent protection;and . .0 . T TT R A BN o
" o technical measures. . St T T LT \
. -~ " We seek to protect our software’s source code and our database as trade secrets and-under copyright law. Although -
_ copyright registration.is not a prerequisite for copyright protection, we have filed for copyright régistration for our-data- -~ -
* " bases, software and other materials. Under current law, the arrangement and:selection of data may be protected, but the
. actual data itself may not be: We license our database; software and services under license agreements that grant our clients~
* non-exclusive, non-transferable licenses. These agreements restrict the disclosure and use of our content, images and soft-
. ~ware. In,additioh,'the?liCense\lag/reem'cnts prohibit the unauthorized reproduction ot transfer of the information and soft- - S
-~ ware we license. .~ ST T e e e R - ‘
= . We also attempt to protect the secrecy. of our proprietary database, our trade secrets and our proprietay informa-. - -
- tion through confidentiality and, noncompetition agreements with our employees. and consultants. Our services also
. include technical measures to discourage and detect unauthorized copying of our intellectual property. = - ‘
* . Wie have filed trademark applications to register, trademarks for a variety of names for the CoStar products and other- .« -
""" marks, and have obtained registered trademarks for a variety of our marks, including “CoStar,™ “COMPS,” “CoStar ’
..~ - Tenant,” and “CoStar ARES.” In addition, we have filed a patent application covering certain. of our methodologies and
software. B PO o N S co
R . . R 7" X - . v . y
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" On September 30, 1999, CoStar filed -suit ‘against LoopNet, Inc.,'in "the U.S. District Court for the District of .
Martyland. The complaint asserts, among other things, that LoopNet infringed CoStar’s copyrights by unlawfully dis-"
 playing and distributing CoStar’s copyrighted photographs.on LoopNet’s Web site. On March 14, 2000, the judge issued’ -

" apreliminary injunction ordering LoopNet, Inc. to remove CoStar photographs fiom"the LoopNet Web site once CoStar,

" notifies.it of any possible infringement, and that LoopNet require certain repeat offenders to' prodiice evidence of copy-

+, right ownership before posting any photograph to the LoopNet Web site. On September 28, 2001, the Court issued an.

opinien resolving a number of dispositive and non-dispositive issues, leaving the case to proceed to trial, which is cur- -
) ;‘réntlyscheduledfor]uly 8,2002. 7 ST P TN

i

- Employees B o ’ ‘ : : : :
o As of Decernber 31‘,_2)001,_(\2{76 cmpléyed 833 employécé; None of our ‘émpl/oyeeé is feprésént’éd by a labbr union. We
... haVe'experienced no work stoppages. We believe that our employee relations are excellent. - . ’

" Iem2  Properties - PR S o :
R Our ’cbfpofate; hea‘tiqilartéis n Bétiiesda, Maryland, occupies app'rbxifnapéljr 60,(‘)’0(\), sqﬁaré feet und'ér‘a lease that '~
'« expires on March 14, 2010. We believe that our Bethesda, Maryland, facility will-be adequate to meet our requirements .

- for'our headquarters for the\foregeeablé future. R IV

", /" In addition to our Bethesda, Maryland, facility, our research operations are. headqhartered in'San Diego, California
"+ 7. and Mason, Ohio. Additionally, we lease officespace in a variety of other locations, which generally house our field sales’
~ . offices. These locations include, without limitation, the following: New York; Los Angeles; Chicago; San Francisco; )
“Boston; Newport Beach;” Philadelphia; Houston; Atlanta; Phoenix; Southfield; Michigan; Cranford, New Jersey; -
Chail‘otte,‘North Carolina; Ft. Lauderdale; Florida; Seattle; Denver; Austin; Dallas; Sacrameénto, California;, Kansas City, ‘
. Missouri; Independence, Ohio; Torrance, California; Tustin, California; and Tampa, Florida. = o : S
- We do not consider any specific leased location to be-material to our operations. We believe. that equally éuitabie‘
. . alternative locations are available in all areas. where we currently do business. - T e
Item 3 ' Legal Proceedings gt ‘ S ‘
Currently, and from time to time, we are involved in litigation incidental to the conduct of our business. We are not
(. a party to any lawsuit or proceeding that, in the opinion of our management, is likely. to have a material-adverse effect-
" .+~ on our financial position of, results of operations. - ) - IR S
~ hem4-  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders = . »". -~ . T v
- We did not submit any matters to a vote of our security-holders during the quarter ehde’d December 31, 2001.
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o Item 5

Pricé Range of Common Stock Our comion
“CSGP " The followrng .table sets forth; for’ the perxo
stock on the Nasdaq Stock Market. I SO R

Frrst Quarter
* Second Quarter e

: Market for the Regzstmnt’s@ommon Stock cmd Related Stockholder Matters i

stock is traded” on the Nasdaq Stock Market® under the symbol
ds mdrcated the hlgh and low sale prrce per ¢ share oof our common B

‘]Lovt/

'$53 69 -
©$39:56

$30‘38-
$zo 38

) “Third Quarter $40.75", ~ $24.50-
‘ Fourth Quarter $36 69 $18 27

e Year ]Ended December 31, 200]1 ,\,“' Lo
A /Frrst Quarter e
- " /. Second'Quarter .
- - Third Quarter ’

1 $29.06°
. $28. 05 -
$24 40

L $3o 75

$1’4‘ 00

$15.25"
. $15.75 -
$16.30

o v Asof March 15 2002 there were approxunately

,Fourth Quarter

11 8 holders of record oF our cornmon stock On March 15, 2002

the last sale’ price reported on the Nasdaq Stock Market® for our common stock was $19.90 per share O

o Dividend Polzcy We have never declared or, pald any dlvrdends on o
theforeseeablefuture S U e el Y

. -

' Recent Issues of Unregzstered Securztzes We dld not 1ssue any unreglstered securltres
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Item 6 - . Selected Consolzdated ]Fmanczal and Opemtmg Data . .
' L ‘ - Selected Consolidated Financial and Opemtmg Data' -

(In meusands, Except Per Share Data and Other Operating Data)

- The followmg table provides selected financial data for the five years ended December 31 2001, The Statement of

Operatlons Data we show below for 1999 through 2001 and the Balance Sheet Data for 2000 and 2001 is derived from

- audited financial statements that we include later in this report. The Statement of Operations Data for 1997 and 1998
* and the Balance Sheet Data for 1997 th:ough 1999 we show below is derwed from audited financial statements for those ‘
years, Whlch do not appear in this report. ’

" Year Ended December 31,

1997 . 1998 1999 - 12000 2001
: "\Smtemem of O]pemnons Datta \ ) S o S IR
. Revenues....... o e D . $ 7,900  $13900. ..$ 30,234 $ 58,502 . § 72,513
Cost of reveniies .. . .. ... el 3413 4562 - 13244 - 30,202 30,316
Gross Margin. . .............. LA 4487 9338 16990 28,300 42,197
Operating eXpenses « . . ....lvouvuenen. 7,786 12,864 32,373 83,335, 64,923
- Loss from operations:. ... . ... .....c.... - (3,299) (3,526) . (15,383) - (55,035) (22,726)
~ Other income, net'... . J........ FEE TR oo 33 ' ‘\341‘ o - 3,106 3335 1,578
“Income tax benefit. . .. /ool . oo 00 S0 0 2,045 - 987
Net loss. .. . . S el 0 $(3,266) 8 (3,185) ¢ $(12,277) . $(49,655)  -$.(20.161)
Net loss per share——basxc and dﬂutcd ...... $ (0.57) . -$ (044) "$. (1.05) $ (328§ (1.29)
‘nghted,average\shares outstanding. .. ... 5,722 7213 11,727 15,137 15,636
% B o ; ' o . } : "“As of December 31, . o
; v e : ‘ 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001
Balance Sheet Data: L i ‘ '
Cash, cash equivalents and - - . . T o
short -term mvestmexllts ................ $ 1,069 $ 19,667 -$ 94,074 - - $ 47,101 $ 42,002
Workmg capltal. e e, CooL (1,547 16,900 89,153 35,601 - 33,315
Total assets .. .o.uniei e, 65810 (27,541 136,905 145,871 123,646
 Total liabilities ., ... ..iu ol 3,664 0 4338 0 17208 . 19497 15,627
Stockholders' equity. .. ... ......... L2917 0 23203 119,697 126,374 108,019 -
) . | “As of Decémber‘_%l,
o 5 . : 1997 1998 . T199% . .. 72000 . 2001.
o Other Opemtmg Data: S ‘ : S ‘ .
(,*Markets Covered by Database. .. ........ o 14 . 19 © 41 INI .50
Number of. Subscrlptlon Clients. ... . ... . . 1123 7.1’,731v \32612 '\5\,4(‘)7 6,356
Billionss of Square Feet in Database . - . .. .- . - 6.5 91 156 217 - 23.0.
. Buildings in Database ......5......0... 112,335 175471 334,917 864,920 950,000
" TImages in Database . .. <. uteinii i 90,545 178827 . 349,526 . 968316 1,300,000
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. Item7 \‘ \ Mandgement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Qpefr’qtidns P
- The following Management’s Di‘scussibn;,and Analysis-of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains -
o “forward-looking statements,” which involve many risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ mate- -
. rially from these statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to,suc-- -~
- cessful adoption, of our products, competition, general economic conditions; changes in the commercial real estate indus- 7.~
~ " . . try, managerial execution, customer retention; development of our sales force, employee retention and our ability to adapt - '
to technological changes. More information about potential fictors. that could cause actual results to’ differ materially .. o
" include, but are not limited to, those stated below under the heading “Risk Factors.” All forward-looking épa‘témenté dre .

‘based on information available to’us on the date of this filing, and we assume no obligation to update such statements. .
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with ourfilings with the Securities and Exchange Commission
.- and the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report. .-~ R : o

N v ~ - - - -

< o~ . - R oS ; N N . S . . . -
. LT - A - . . [ N
) . Lo ) - - - . <

I L N ' . . - ~

‘o o Overview - TR T ST e ST

R CoStar is the leading provider of information seryices to the U.S.‘commercial real estate industry. We have created a -
 digital marketplace where the members of the commiercial real estate and related business cpmmur{ity can continuously = .
interact ‘and facilitate- pransa’ctidns by efficiently exchanging accurate and standardized commercial real estate informa- , .
tion. Our vxfide array of digital service offerings includes a leasing marketplace, a.selling marketplace, comparable sales

information; decision support, tenant information, property marketing, data hOStiﬁg\\fdr clients Web sites, contact man-
agement, property data integration and industry news. Substantially all of our current setvices are digitally delivered over . " "
the Internet. - A N . e I R

- s

, . ’
~

. We combletéd ’\oﬁr ini/tiaLpubHé ‘offéri‘ng in July, 1 9\9/8, ahd’-rec‘ei'vévcll‘net 'proceecls,of’ apprc;ki’ma~tel"y'$~22.7 million. We R

‘primarily-used those net proceeds to fund the geographic and service expansion of our business, including three strategic”
o acquisitions, and to expand our sales and marketing organization. In May, 1999, yve"compl(éted a follow-on publicoffer-
" ing and received net proceeds of approximately. $97.4.million. We used a portion of those net proceeds to fund the acqui- .-
 sition of COMPS.COM; Inc. {“Comps”).and we expect 10 use the-remainder of the proceeds primarily for development; -
.. and distribution of new services, expansion of all existing services across our currént markets, geographic expansion’in ~- ™
s the U.S: and- international markets, strategic acquisitions; working capital and general corporate purposes. =~ ¢ - -

'

o /. From 1994 throﬁgh,ZOOl?‘vile,e_xpandéd the geographical coyérgge Of‘OlJ:YI; existing sre/fvi/qe,s and déveloped new serv-
"+ ices. In addition to internal growth, this expansion included the acquisitions of Chicago ReSource, Inc.in Chicago in 1996 -

_“and New Market Systems, Inc.in San Francisco in 1997. In August; 1998, we expandediinto the Houston region through

. the acquisition ‘of,\Hoﬁstdh-bhs’ed{rpal estate information provider C Data Services, Inc.-In January, 1999; we expanded B ,
further into the Midwest and Florida by acquiting LeaseTrend, and into- Atlanta and 'Dallas/Fort Worth by acquiring -
Jamison Research, Inc. In September, 1999, we acquired ARES, a Los Angeles based devéloper and distributor of ARES

~ for ACT!. In February, 2000, we acquired Comps. In Noverriber, 2000, we »vauire/d‘Fir,st Image Tc@hnqlogﬁies; The more - -

- recent acquisitions are discussed later in this section. ~ = - S S
. Since our inception, the development.of our business has required substantial investments for the expan‘sic,)r\l‘ of our”

. E :sei'vi/ces and the, establishmgnt-of operating regions throughout the U.S; which has resulted in §ubstahtiél net losses on.an,
- ‘overall basis. Throughout 1999 and 2000, we experienced a rapid expansion in the number of services that we offer and-. ’ ;

the number of regions in which we operate. By the beginning of 2001, we had substantially completed our goal of estab-

© - . lishing 4 national platform of operating regions and service offerings in 50 market areas from which we believe we can . ’
" appropriately meet the riceds.of the commercial real estate community fof comiprehensive national building specific infor-
"~ . - mation. During 2001, we focused on continuing to.grow revenue while controlling and.reducing cdsts; in an effort to
reduce operating losses, and ultimately, move our business to profitability. As aresult, in the third and fourth quarters of »
# 12001 the Company generated- positive-earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, and at the end of
o -~ the fourth quarter of 2001, the Cortipany’s total cash, cash equivalents and shogt—;term\iflvestment‘s, ‘ha{d, inéreaséd'ovqr the -~
.+ " -balance at.the end of the third quarter of 2001. We believe that the opportunity to continue to grow revenue from our
- éxisting national platform and services is significant and that a large cormponent of the operating cost structure.of the ~ = -
"~ Company is made up of fixed operating costs. Therefore, based on expected revenue growth and continued cost control, .

Fo

Ve >

“we believe that during 2002 we can reduce cur overall opérating losses as compared to 2001 "and generate positive oper-
ating cash flows. " .. - . oo v : e ) S T -

»
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- centage of ‘total\reyvenue) for the indicated periods: . :

3

We rriay'develop‘and‘distributé new services and expand existing-services across our current regions and we may
" experience continued geographic expansion in U.S. and internafional markets. The incremental cost of introducing new
*.” servicés in the future may reduce the profitability of a region or'cause’it to incur losses: Therefore, while we expect our =
-~ current service offerings in existing regions to remain profitable and provide substantial funding for our business, it is pos- =+
sl /\_sible' that further overall expansion could cause us'to genérate losses and.negative cash ,ﬂbwfrom operations in the future. -

While our services continue to expand, our CoStar Prop;ffy, CoStar-Tenant and CoStar COMPS services currently gen-

. eratevdlc_la‘rgést portion of our revenue. The CoStar Property, CoStar Tenant.and CoStar COMPS subécriptioh contracts gen-

. erally have terms of one to three years and renew automatically. Upon renewal, many of the contract ‘rates increase in accor- .
.- . dance with contract provisions or as a result of contract renegotiations. To encotirage cliénts to use our services regularly, we . .
- generally charge fixed amounts rather than fees based on actual system usage. We charge our clients based on the numberof -

_ sites, organization size, the company’s business focus and the number of services to which a client subscribes.

..~ Our contract renewal rate historically has exceeded 90% on an annual bass. However, during 2001 many telecom-
L y 2V 1 annual g <l y

' munications companies, which represented approximately 6% of our’ reveriues at their peak, discontinued or curtailed,

their operations. This has resulted in an iricreased number of cancellations of our services by thése telecommunications

~Companies. Sales to telecommunications companies currently represent approximately 1% of our revenues. These can- /

cellations, together with the impact of general economic conditions on our entire customer base, have resulted in renew-

. al rates of approximately, 85% ‘ov‘er,t,he) past12 months. .

" . - Approximately-94% of our revenues arise from clients under subscription contracts. Qur subscription clients pay"

', ‘contract fees on an annual; quarterly, or monthly basis. We recognize-this revenue over the life of the contract on-a

. S . L. . . ~ . . . . . 9 i N - N . ’
" straight-line basis beginning with the installation or renewal date. Annual-and quarterly advance payments result in

' deferred revenue, substantially reducing the working capital requirements generated By accounts receivable.

The Company will apply the new rules on account\ing for goodwill and iriténg\il‘)le‘assyets deemed to have indefinite lives

N _ beginning in the first quarter of 2002. The Company estimates that the effect of the new rules will be to decrease amortization-
expense related to goodwill by-approximately $3.7 million in 2002. During 2002, the Company will perform the first of the * -

required impairment tests of goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have' indefinite lives as' of January 1, 2002. The

- Compatiy does not expect that these tests will have any effect on our earnings and financial position during 2002,
- 'j"—Cons\o.]lidated]RésUJlts“QfOPéfaﬁoni\s_» Y - S e  »¥ :

- \The'followjng‘ table provides our selected consolidated re‘s‘uIts‘o‘f\ ;)peration"s‘/(ih‘ thousan&s“cv)‘f doli;ifs and as a \per_' ‘

- 4 - . VV\/ o SOOI , "\',\YearEﬁdqdi?ecAe'nibér31,L'f~l
L o o 3 | T a0 o0l _.
© Revenues. Ll 0§ 30234 1100 % - $'58,502° 100'% $ 72,513 100 % |
- Costofrevenues ......" .. C .. 13244 44 730202 52 . 30316 - 42
(Gross margin ... e oo S 16,990 - 56 .  28300. 48 . 42,197 Cosg
: Opera\ﬁn’ge{(penses o . RO o \ . . \\'L I
. Selling and marketing ......5... ... L 17,965 59 37644 64 235020 32
) S/offwaré.devélopment s o e s "1’,10\8 q. \ ) 3‘,865 B . Dosa137 L 7,
 General and administrative .., ........... 11,054 37 27,086 - 46 28438 39°
, Pijrchase"amorfization‘;.:. el L 2246 7 ‘L :, 8,928 “ 15 7,846 o1
L ’\Ac’quired,’ih-prc‘)ce'ssjdgvélopment e i S 0 0, - 5,8‘1‘2‘,3 10 0 0.
- Total operating expensés . ... ..... 32,373 107 . 83335, 142 64923 . 90
Loss from operations .. ... ..., (15383) 0 (S1) C(55,035) (94 - @2,726) . (31)
 Otherincome,net ... Lol il 31060 10 93335 6 L 578 2
o ‘ Ihcometax‘benéf/'it( ...... 00 ‘ 2,045 3 ©o987 1 .
ST Netloss. i v 802277) C(41)% $(49,655) (85)%- $(20,061) _ (28)% .




""" Comparison of Year Eaded December 31, 2001 and Year Ended December 31,2000 .. Ao ne

- .

IR Rédeﬁz}és.j Revé\r/mé\s\ gfew 24% ffqni $58.5 ,miljlibr‘f in 2000 to $725mllhon in 2001.* This increase resulted tp,rincif_',.

- cross selling of products into.our. existing: customer base. Revenue from Comps, acquired in Fge_bruar}}bf 2000; grew from

.- & N

© 7 o7 $15.5 million in 2000 fo $19.7 million in 2001. Increase

s in revenue achieved in all.major service areas were partially off-

. ~pally from the further penetration of the poténtial customer base:across_our national platforin, ‘as well as the successful -

set'by a-reduction ifi CoSfar Marketp_lz{ce“eleCtroniC-agive_r;ising rex;er\;ue,whi'ch\dt;c/lir)\éd from $19 million’ in ZOOQ‘ t0$1.3 " ~ o

~ million'in 2001, A R A S e RN A L

SRR - i si;:uctﬁre,;co\s‘t, of revenues was ge'l\aﬁve‘ly unche{dge’d‘from 2000 to 20071, Purchase price amortization included in ¢
‘ revenues increased from $4.8 million in 2000 to $5:4 million in 2001. e e e e

e : o

" Tion’in 2001 and decreased as @ percentage of revenues from 64%.in 2000 to 32 % in 2001: Selling arid marketing expens-

s es decreased during 2001 as a'result of a substantial reduction in advertis

" Gross Margin. Gross margin increased from $28.3 million in-2000 to $42.2 million in 2001: Goss margin as a per--. -
> _centage of reveriués increased from 48% to 58%. The increase in-gross-margin and gross rargin percentageresulted from - -
- -revénue growth conibined with the impact of a relatively fixed cost structure for research."As a result of the fixed cost. = '
ostof = -~

Sél}ing_dhd\ Mdr/ééti};g‘ ]':;z‘c'[)enée‘s‘: Selling ahdvmérke;iné expenses decreased from $37.6 iﬁ)illidnyili“'rf.QO‘O\ to $235 il-

.

hg and marketing activities, as well as a reduc- .

- % tion in operating costs associated with the ‘sales organization, including ‘communications, travel, and. recruiting and -

\

.

SRR ,Séﬁwafe \Del)evl,oﬁm‘éﬁ‘t/ljfxpiensésf.‘ S@f;&ivéyre-‘dg:Velopment eXpenses 'ihéreéééd from $3.~9’rriﬁlic§n in ZbOO\td $35.1 il

- .decreased personnel costs, particularly in the area of electronic advertising.” . ©7 .0 0 o0 s ] G

lion in 2001 and remained constant as a percentage of revenues at 7% in 2000 and,2001. The increase in softwate devel-

©7 . opment expenses reflects’ development costs for the increased number of products we now support including CoStar -

. COMPS; CoStar Ex

. et T ~ e ‘ : T A .
b N 7 . S ; N

(-

< B AN . N

A 2000 to $28.4 million in.2001 but decreased as a percentage of revenues from 46% in 2000 to 39% in 2001. The increase .- -- --

.. ¢ the Company’s expanded operations, inicluding office rent expense and increased depretiation of property and equipment, N

.. - offset partially by a-decrease in outside services expenses. =i . . Lt .

B - p >
PRI - - 4

o A Ruréhése Aniortization: Purchase\amorti{zsltiori‘q\q‘:'rtea‘s‘ed ’ffomz'$8.9:m11ioh'in 2:0001&'5 $7.8 fnilfi,oﬁ in /2061. Thxs :

7

- in(process development'costs written off as part of the Comps-acquisition.” * -, v .-l T

;- ‘decréase’was primarily a result of lower total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investment balances:and lower inter-.
©.est rates during the year. <~~~ ¢ R N A RN T :

'
PR \

'
~ v [

'LInclorrie' Tax Beneﬁi;’ Tncome. tax benefit 'de-:cr,ea{séa’\\firdfn ‘$2—.‘(}ir‘1iillio/g1

. was a result of the'reversal of the deferred tax liability incurred in connection: with the amortization of identified intangi- -
"~ " - ble-assets acquired-through acquisitions. E A U S S ST

‘3Cdmpérisoh;0fd§(éar' Endlédl Déc;ﬁﬁbef 31, 2000 and Year End‘éd Dec\ehiberé']l, ]1999 M \f' o N ‘1’ BRI

. ; N . . - - ~ -

. 07 . . sitionof Comps: ,C}oinps‘contrifbuted $15.5-million to revenués for 200‘0,.'C0’rnps/rf;vén1ié grew-approximately 30% after”
.. ‘the acquisition in Febriiary of 2000.” ., " - - to e e -

N - v -

.07 Gross Margin. Gross margin’ increased from $
! “increased in total, as a pércentage of revenues it decreased from 56% to.48%. /T he increase in gross margin amounts

. ) I . . i . N ~ o - N SR Ln’ T 1N 1 1 1 [ ’
- *_ . ages resulted from lower gross margin percentages i Comps products and an increase’in purchase price amortization ' - .- -
, B , X o \ -, T L R . . AR JURE R »7:>': DN ‘\/ T ’ e -
- < . N -7 RS ’ /‘ R L "L,’ " e “, i “ S - - IR
g . - R . . i . i " (, ; ) ) - “ g )
< ’ 5 5 RSO I R R ’
. ~ ’ N ‘o, . 2 S /'4‘ , - Z" < ’\/ s _ 4 ) N B

resulted principally from significant revenue growth and the acqﬁi"éigidn of Comps. The decline ini gross margin percent- - -

‘L

v

e General and Administiative Expenses. General and administrative experises increased slightly from $27.1 million inn .~ -

" in'the amount of general and : dministrative expenses is.primarily due fo inereased operational expenses associated with™ -

L

]

. _— :R'eve,nués'.) Revenues grew 93% from $30.2 million in 1999 fo $58.5.1 illién iI}\,;ZO;OO.&TMhis ,inc‘:tr"eafsé r‘esulgwé‘d:prihc;i—’ i
>+ = pally from growthin our client base for the regions we served, expansion of our services in-existing regions and the acqui- . "

e - reduction resulted from a decrease in amortization of certain intangible assets; arising as part of the Comps acquisition. . 1

P Acé]z)i?ed “In-Process D;evelopﬁi\eﬁi. A;qﬁirgd \iﬁ.’bfdcess d_e’\ff;’lopmént ébé‘fs} of* $5.é‘}nillfoq mZOOO consist of ‘l

in 2000-f0 $987,000'in 2001 This decrease = .

;

7.0 'million in 1999 to $28.3 million in 2000. Whilé gréss matgin .~

-

change and «COSta'r’:CO,Il\necf,‘,'and the incréase in support of internal systems fo manage the Company’s * -

S o Other Income, Net. Interest and other incomie decreased from $3.3 million m 2000 10 $1.6 millioni‘in’/Z(‘)Ql',"This’A p’/‘y: "




from $777,000 in 1999 to $4 8 mllhon in 2000..

Sellzng and Marketing Expenses Selling and marketlng expenses 1ncreased from $18.0 mllhon in 1999 to $37.6 mil- -
 lion in 2000-and increased as a percentage of revenues from 59% in 1999 to 64% in 2000. Selling and marketing expens-
es-increased as a result of continued expansion of the sales organization and marketing efforts required for growth, par-
ttcularly in‘emerging and acquired regions. In addition, these expenses increased as a result of the non-recurring market- -

- - ing costs surfounding the launch of CoStar Exchange, which began to dechne after the second quarter 0f 2000, and ended

’

dunng the fourth quarter of 2000.

 Software Development Expenses Software development ¢ expenses mcreased from $1 1 million in 1999 to $3 9 mil-
lion in 2000 and increased.as a percentage of revenues from 4% in 1999 t0.7% i it 2000. The increase in software devel-
opment expenses reflects developrnent costs for the increased number of products supported 1nclud1ng CoStar COMPS

s and CoStar Exchange.

General and Administrative Expenses General and admlmstranve expenses 1ncreased from $11. l mllhon in1999to
$27.1 m1lhon in 2000 and: mcreased as a percentage of revenués from'37% in 1999 to 46 % in 2000. General and admin- -

- istrative expenses increased due to the hiring of new employees to support our expanded operations and client base and- -

- also the i increase in employees due to the acquisition of Comps During 2000 we recrulted and hlred four senior level
executives. r S

Purchase Amortlzatzon Purchase. amortlzatron 1ncreased from $2.2 mllhon in 1999 to $8 9 mllhon in 2000
Purchase amornzanon increased prlmarﬂy due to the acquisition of Comps ‘

] Acquzred In-Process Development Acquired in-process development costs of $5.8 mllhon in 2000 consist of in-
process development costs written off as part of the Comps acquisition. . :

. Other Income, Net. Interest and other income increased’ from $3 1 million in 1999 to $3 3 mtlhon in. 2000 Thts :
increase was prrmarlly a-result of a full year, of interest earned on the proceeds from the follow—on public offering.. -

Income Tax Benefit. An income tax beneflt of $2.0 million in 2000 is a result of the reversal of the deferred tax lia-
" bility incurred in connectlon with the amortization of 1dent1f1ed 1ntang1ble assets acqulred through recent acquisitions.

Consohdated Qnan'ter]ly Results of Operanons

The followmg tables summarize our consohdated results of operatlons ona quarterly basis for the indicated penods

2000 .o S 2001 o
L Mar. 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 Maz 31 Me 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31
T . S T nThousands) ‘
Revenues ... ... $11 372 $14572 $15717 $16,841 $17,354 $18073 - $18447 $18639'
" Costofrevemues ............. 5977 7730 835 8139 799 _ 7516 7532 7278
 Grossmargin ............... 5395 6842 7361 8702 9364 10557 10915 11,361 |
['_opéraﬁngcxpenses 022,090 21,571 20261 19413 - 17629 16867 15728 14699
. Loss from operdtions -........ (16695 (14729) (12,900) (10,711) - (8265) = (6310) (4813) = (3,338)
‘Other incorre (expense),inet .00 10260 751 807 751 575 374 348 281
" Income tax beneﬁt.....l...'.‘.'...i Cosest 845 523 0 112 41 41 452 453
Netloss’....... e 808, 104 §(13,133) $(11,570) § (9.848) $ (7,649) $(5.895) $(4.013) $(2,604) .
Netlosspershare—} o . L s o
- basicand diluted ......c..... _ $(1.06) $(0.85)  S(0.75) $(0.64) _$(049) * $(0.38) '$(026) 8§(0.17)
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. ; :\ '-‘,?’ ;\ >‘ - !- ' 2000[/ “\ ~‘ ,\"‘i »‘ - -/ i2001A ~
: R Mar. 31 June30 Sept:30 ~ Dec.31 Mar. 31 June30 Sept. 30" " Dec. 31

(As a Percentage of Total Revenue) o

" Revenues .- .. ST 100% . 100 % {00 % 100:% 100 % 100% 100% 100 % .
. 1—7Costofrevenues : } 53 . 53 537 . .48 46 42 41 39 (
._,I/Gross margin . .. : 47 \ 47 o 47 ;52‘ ’\\ 54 - 58 59 6l
“‘Operatmg expenses 194 148 - 129 415 020 93 8s 79
* Loss from operations .i_.'. Can) (01 .82 (64 (4B (38 e - (18
k Other incorfie- (expense) et . 9 s osoe 4 3 2:}' \ \2 o 2. .
,\’:Incometax beneﬁt., s 6. N 1“' -0 oot RN .
Net loss . TU33% . (0% | (4% L S8)% . (441% - (33)% (02% (4%
‘ \'Acqursmons - R . R g ’ ;

LeaseTrend On January 8, 1999 we acqurred all of the outstandmg caprtal stock of LeaseTrend Inc., a Cmcmnatl o

based provider of commercral real estate information, for approximately $4.5. million in cash and 566,671 shares of our

. - common stock.- The transaction was accounted for as a purchase and the cons1derat10n was valued for accountmg pur- ,
i _poses at approxrmately $9. 2 million mcludmg acquisition expenses . ‘ -

~ . Jamison Research On ]anuary 22 1999 ‘we acqurred all of the outstandmg caprtal stock of ]amlson Research Inc., .
, _an Atlanta based provider of commercial real estate 1nformat1on, for approxrmately $5.3-million-in cash and 446, 637 -

: shares of our comrhon stock. The transaction was accounted for'as'a purchase and the cons1derat10n was Valued for*
',accountmg purposes at approxrmately $10.3 million mcludmg acqursrtlon expenses ' ‘ g

. 'ARES Development Group; ILC. On September 15 1999 we' acqurred all of the membershrp mterests of. ARES

Development Group, LLC, Los Angeles based developers and distributors of ARES for ACT, for $250,000'in cash and .
.33, 208 shares of our common stock. The trarsaction was accounted for as a purchase and the initial cons1derat10n was
N valued for accounting purposes. at approxrmately $1,265,000 including acquisition ‘expenses. Ir addition, the acquisition.

s agreement provided for' $1,000;000 of additional consideration (in & combination of.cash and stock) to be. pald by CoStar
-~ upon the achievement of certain operating goals by the members of ARES. In Februafy 2000, we issued 2,140 shares of

_our common stock and paid $437, 500 in cash to the'members of ARES for the achievement of the frrst of the operating -
goals by the members of ARES. In October 2000, we issued an additional 2, 196 shares of ofir common stock and paid. .
an additional $437,500 in cash to the ‘members of ARES for the achrevement of the second (and fmal) of the operatmg

' ‘goals by the members of ARES. ‘ o

, Comps -On February 10 2000 we acqurred all of the outstandrng caprtal stock of Comps, a San Drego based

- -

~ provider of. commerc1al real estate information, for $49,015,905 in cash and 2,259,034 shares of the Company’s.com- .. .

- mon stock. The acquisition has been accounted for using: purchase accounting and ‘has been valued at approxrmately

$101, 379,000 for accounting purposes The purchase: prlce was allocated primarily to cash, acquired database technolo--
"~ gyand other mtangrbles, which are bemg amortized over a period of 2 to 10°years. In connection with the purchase of
o Comps, $5,812,000 of the purchase price'was allocated to purchased in- process. development, and expensed upon acqui- .

. sition because.the technologrcal feasrb1l1ty of products under development hiad not been established and no future alter- -
. native use exrsted The acquired in- process development was. analyzed through an mdependent thlrd -party, valuatlon usmg

o~ the expected ¢ash flow approach

k Comps reported a cash and short- term investment balance of approxrmately $49 5 mrlhon at September 30, 1999
AWl’llCl’l resulted from its initial public offering in May, 1999. "Comps also reported long- term debt of approxrmately $3. 8

L million at September 30, 1999. Although Comps was experienicing operating losses and negative cash flow from- opera-"

tions, the remairiing cash and short-term investments at the closing date’ s1gn1f1cantly offset the. overall cash consrderatron
for the purchase of Comps by CoStar The cash portron of the purchase prrce was obtamed by CoStar from the proceeds

3
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- from the sale of its common stock in a follow on publlc offering in May, 1999 Durmg 2000 We made srgmﬁcant invest- -

L. upgrade computer systems Lo T T
- ",0 estabhsh network connectrons, S / . ‘ /

o convert database structures; R A . N s -
" o-train personnel and o \l_' R T e ’ \ .
St e mlgrate Comps clrents 10 our services. B T S - e

.. Since the fourth quarter of 2000 Comps has experlenced posruve cash flow. CoStar will continue to incur srgnrflcant
charges to operatlons as a result of the amottization. of intangible assets resultrng from the acquisition. -

Lo B Fzrst Image Technologies. On November 9, 2000, CoStar completed the. acqursrtlon of First Image Technologres, Inc
W w - The primary asset of First Image is the Metropolrs software system, a single mterface that combines commercial real estate
' data from multiple mformatron provrders into'a comprehensive resource. We acquired all of the outstandmg capital stock .
,T L of Fl_tst Image Technologres Inc. for approximately $665,000 in cash and 9,424 shares of our common stock.. The trans-
. action was accounted for asa ' purchase and the initial consrderatron was valued for accounting purposes at approxrmately
-$950,000 including acqursmon expenses: In addition, the acquisition agreement provides for $950 OOO of.additional con-"
. sideration (in-a combination of cash and stock] to be paid by CoStar -upon the achrevement of certain’ operatrng goals by
T the sole stockholder of Frrst Image- etghteen months after the orrgmal closrng date 1‘ A :

~ ot o -,

/]quurdrtyandCaprtalResources R A o )
Our pr1nc1pal sources of quutdrty are cash cash equlvalents and short term investments. Our cash and cash equrva-
RN lents balance was $30.7 million and $43.9 ;million, and our short-term investments balance was $11.3 million and $3.2
~° million at December 31, '2001 and 2000; respectrvely Total cash, cash equlvalents ‘and short-term investments were $42
- million at December 31,2001, a decrease of $5.1 million from $47.1 million at December 31, 2000 The decrease in cash;
* cash equlvalents and short-term investments was-due principally to cash used i in’ operating actrvrtres and $2.1 million in-
sl purchases of property and equrpment During the year ended December 31, 2001, we financed our operations and growth |
. through cash flow from' certain regrons of our national platform that were prof1table and from the proceeds of the fol-
low-on offering. Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2001 was $4.5 million compared B
to met cash used in‘operating activities 'of $26.8 million for the yeat ended December 31, 2000. “This substantial reduction

atrng expenses. -

. " Net cash used in mvestmg activities was $10.3 million for the year ended Decermber. 31 2001 compared to net cash
f used in ifvesting activities 0f.$2.7 million for'the year ended December 31 2000. This increase in net cash used in invest-
. -" ing activities during 2001 was due to an increase in purchases of short-term investments, which was offset by. decreased
' “levels. of spendmg on capitalized product development costs, purchased bulldmg photography and purchased property -
- : ‘and equipment; consisting prlncrpally of leasehold improvements, computers and office equiptnent. We have entered i into
- numerous operating leases for office space throughout the country, including CoStar’s headquarters, and have commit-
" ments of approximately $4 3. million in rent’ payments for 2002 We currently have no materral commrtments for capltal
g 7: expend1tures S e ) / B o

:
’

* To date, wé have g grown in part by acqurrmg other companres, and e may contmue to make acqutsmons Our acqu1-
* sitions may vary in size.and could be mater1al to our-current operatlons We' expect to use ‘cash, stock or other means of
fundmg to make these acqursrtlons S o N S

Durmg the year ended December 31, 2001 we experrenced s1gn1f1cant losses and negattve operatmg cash flow. In, -
- 2002, as the Company ‘continues to emerge. from a period of rapid product and geographrcal expansion, we expect con-
" tinued sequential quarterly growth ini revenue and a relatively fixed overall operating cost structure. As a result, we expect
- reductions in the level .of overall operatmg losses in 2002 as compared to 2001 and posrtlve operatmg cash flow durmg
’72002*"’*‘.“ . - ST

Based on'current plans, we beheve that our avarlable cash combrned wrth posrtlve cash flow from our operatlons

ments to integrate Comps i mto our orgamzatlon 1nclud1ng COSts to: o R p I

in nét cash used in operatmg activities was the result of tevenue growth growth in profrt margrns, and reductrons in oper- o

should be suffrcrent to fund the Company durmg the nextyear.- . . e o R

f




W Although we have experlenced losses 0 date, future prof1ts, to the extent not offset by the benefrts of loss carryfor— ‘

+ " wards; would result irf incore tax liabilities. In addition, : vve | have recorded a valuatron allowance for the portron of the

N :

We do not. belreve the’ 1mpact of 1nflanon has 51gn1f1cantly affected our operatrons RN
Cautnonary Statement Concemmg lForward Looldng Statements S LT e R ";\l«

v

- We have made: forward lookrng statements in this Report that:are sub]ect % r1sks and uncertalntles Forward look—
"ing statements include information that 1§ not, purely historic fact,. mcludrng statements. concernmg the f1nanc1al outlook
for 2002 and estimates for the future, our. possrble or assumed future results of operations generally, and other statements .
.- and information regarding assumptions: ‘about our revenues, earnings per share, capital ahd other expendltures, operat-

deferred tax assets related to tax loss carryforwards T e o e T Lo e

R ing losses, financing: plans, cash flow, capital structure,, pendrng legal proceedings and clarms, futire economic perform— -

ance, operating income,’ managements plans;’ goals and ob]ectlves for future. operations and growth and, markets for. -
“stock. The sections-of this Report which contain forward-looking" statements, “include* “Busrness,” “Propernes,” “Legal
- Proceedmgs and “Management S Drscussron and Analysrs of Financial Cond1t1on and Results of Operatrons

” u 5 “" LIRS

SR Our forward lookrng statements are also rdentrfled by’ words such ds “belreves, expects, “anticipates,” mtends,
‘ estlmates” or similar expressrons You should understand that these forward lookmg\statements are necessarrly estimates
ST reflectrng our. ]udgment not guarantees of future performance. They-are sub]ect to a number of assumptrons, risks and.
77 uncertainties. that” could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied. in the forward lookrng

VI

statements.- You should inderstand that the followmg nnportant factors, in addmon to those discussed in-<Risk Factors,”
-, could affect’ our future results and could cause those results or other outcomes. to differ materrally from those expressed

‘

. ~or implied in ouir forward-looking statements: competltlon, technologrcal irinovation by, competitots; general economic |

. condltrons, events that affect commercial real estate; customer retention;. business combmatlons and strategic alliances- by
-~ other 1ndustry participants; rianagerial execution; development of our sales force growth in"commerce conducted over
| the Internet changes in relanonshrps with real estate brokers and other strateglc partners and legal and regulatory issues.

PR Accordmgly, you should‘ not place undue reliance on forward lookmg statements, wh1ch speak only as of the date of

- . 7 behalfare expressly qualified in their entirery by the cautionary statements contamed or referred -to in this section. We do
i not undertake any obligation to release pubhcly any revisions to ‘these forward lookmg statements to reflect events or cir-~
S cumstances after \the date of thrs Report or to reflect the occurrence of unant1c1pated events O

’, NN
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Our future proﬁtabzlzt’y is uncertam due to our contmumg opemtmg losses We have never recorded an overall oper-
ating profit because the 1nvestment required for geographrc exparnsion : and new ‘services has. exceeded the profits generat-
' ed in our markets Our ‘ability to earn-a profit will largely depend on our ability to-manage ‘our growth and to,generate
NI profits that, exceed our-investment in geographrc eXpansion : and new services. In addition, our ability to earn-a proflt to
777 “increase revenues, or.to control Costs could be affected by the factors set forth ‘below..We.may not be able to generate rev—

'

,,1ncreaseourfuturerevenuegrowth : RSN \ R

¢ - ‘. 4 I

: Our opemtmg results may ﬂuctuate szgmﬁcantly Our operatmg results, revenues, and expenses may fluctuate wrth
general economie conditions and also for many other. reasons, ‘such as: successful adoptlon of the Company’s products,

© . competition; loss of- clrents or revenues;. changes or consolldatron i the real -estate industry; the: ‘dévelopment of our sales.
force,,managerlal executron, -caneellations or non- renewals of ouir products data quality;, employee r refention; our invest-.

N " ments in geographrc expansion; the timing’ ‘of new:service 1ntroductrons and enhancements,—the timing of investing the net’
proceeds frém our offerrngs, acqulsrtrons of other” companres or assets; sales, brand, enhancement and marketmg promo- .
tlonal actrvmes, client training and support activities; changes i clrent budgets our abrlrty to- control expenses, our invest-

’\\/,

ments in other corporate resources, of changes in accountmg polrcres or practrces A SO

'
*n

-

R " We may not be able to attract and. retain clzents Our success and revenues depend on attract1ng -and retarmng sub—

o scrlbers to our services. The. CoStar- Property, CoStar Tenant and CoStar COMPS subscr1pt10n conttdcts, which: generate
S the largest portlon of our revenue, generally range from terms of one to three years. Our clrents -may decrde not to renew

* this Report All subsequent written and oral forward- Jooking statements attributable to us or’ any, person actmg on,our’

" énues or control expenses sufficient to earn a proflt to Mmaintain, profrts on a quarterly or annual basrs, or'to sustam or .’

S
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“and higher expenses.” o o

. power. Any of these factors could ddversely affect our business.
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or to cancel their agreements as a result of several factors, including: a decision that they have no need for our products;

a decision to use alternative products; pricing and budgetary constrdints; consolidation in' the real estate industry; data
quality; technical problems; or.economic of competitive pressures. If clients decide not to renew ot .cancel their agree- -
ments, and we do not attract new clients, then our revenues will be adversely affected.” o S \ ‘

. Our operating costs may be higher than we expect. Many of our expenses, pai’ticulfarl"y personnel costs and occu-

© pancy costs, are relatively ﬁxr\:d.‘ Therefore, we may not be able to adjust spending quickly enough to offset any unex- ’
- pected revenue shortfall or increase in éxpenses. Additionally, we may experience higher than expected operating costs,

including increased personnel costs, selling and marketing costs, occlipancy costs, communications costs, travel costs, soft-
ware development costs, outside services costs, and other costs. If operating costs exceed our expectations or cannot. be

“adjusted accordingly, our business, r_esults'of operations and financial condition will be adversely affected.

/ Competition could render our services uncompetitive. The ri;arl_(et for information systems and services in general is -
highly competitive and rapidly changing. The barriers to entry for Web-based services and businesses are low, making it
possible for the number of competitors to proliferate rapidly. Many of our existing competitors, or a number of potential "
new competitors, may have longer operating histories in the Internet market, greater name recognition, larger customer
bases, lower prices, easier access to data, greater. user traffic and greater financial, technical and marketing resources than

~we have. Our competitors may be able to undertake more-extensive marketing campaigns, obtain more data, adopt more "

aggressive pricing policies, make.more attractive offers to potential employees, subscribers, distribution partners and con-

tent providefs and may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in Internet user

requirements. Increased competition could result in lower revenues and higher expenses, which woiild reduce our prof-

o
i

If our data is not accurate, comprehensive or reliable, our business could be harmed. Our success depends on otir -

~ clients’ confidence in the comprehénsiveness, accuracy, and reliability of the data we provide. The task of establishing and
‘maintaining accurate and reliable data is challenging. If our data is not current; accurate, comprehensive or reliable, we
* could experience reduced demand for our services or legal claims by our customers, which could result in lower revenues

-

%

- If we are unablé o bire, retain.and continse to develop our sales force, it could have a material adverse effect on our
business. In order to support revenue growth; we need to confinue to develop, train and retain our sales force. Qur abil-
ity to.build and develop a strong sales force may be affected by a number of factors, including: our ability to integrate and .
motivate sales personnel; our ability to effectively train our sales force; the ability of our sales force to sell an increased

_number of products; the length of time it takes new sales personnel to become productive; the competition wé face from
~ other companies in hiring and retaining sales personnel; and our ability to manage a multi-location sales organization. If

we are unable to hire, develop or retain the members of our'sales force; or if our sales force is unproductive, it could have-
a material adverse effect on our revenues and expenses. y : - : o

N

. Cyclical downturns and consolidation in the commercial real estate industry could have an deverse effect on our busi-

ness.. Our business may be affected by conditions in the commercial real estate industry, including conditions affecting’ N

businessés that supply or invest in that industry. A decrease in the level of commercial real estate activities could adverse--
ly affect demand for our services. The traditional economic downturns in thé commercial real estate industry could also
harm our business. These ‘changes could increase cancellation rates, which could have a material adverse impact on our. -
operating résults. Also, companies in this industry. are consolidating, often in order to reduce expenses. Consolidation
could reduce the number of our existing clients, reduce the size of our target market and ingreésé our clients” bargaining

i - i

General economic conditions. could have an adverse effect on our business. Our business and the commercial real

 estate industry are particularly affected by negative trends in the general economy. The success of our business depends

on a number of factors relating to general global, national, regional and local economic conditions, including inflation,
interest ratés, perceived and actual economic conditions, taxation policies, availability of credit, employment levels, and -
wage and salary levels: Negative trends.in any of these general economic conditions could adversely affect our business.
For example, a recent downturr in the telecommunications industey has. forced many of our telecom company clients to

-~ discontinue or curtail their operations, which has resulted in an increased number of cancellations of our services. If other

* . position could be adversely affected. -

- clients choose to cancel our services as a result of economic conditions, and we do not acquire new clients, our financial -

N ) - ‘ '
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o We rnay not be able to successfully tntrodnce new products Our future busmess and f1nanc1al success will depend S .
’ ‘on our ability to continue to introduce new products into the marketplace *Developlng new products imposes, heavy bur: o
‘dens-on our systems development department, product managers; management and’ researchers. In addition; successfully ‘
o launchlng and’selling a, new product such-as CoStar Office Report or CoStar | Connect ‘puts pressure on our sales and
_ marketing resources. If we aré unable to develop new products ‘then our customers may choose a competitiveservice over .
- oursand our business may be adversely affected. In addition, if we incur 51gmf1cant costs in developmg newproducts, or . .
" arenot successful in marketmg and sellmg these new products, 1t could have a matenal adverse effect on-our results of -

operanons R S . o . )

N

) ‘We may not be able 1o adapt t0 tbe rapzd tecbnologzcal changes to tbe Internet and Internet prodncts To be suc- .7t
R cessful ‘we miust adapt to the rapid technological changes to the Internet and Internet products by contmually enhancmg
. . - our products and services, and introducing and integrating new services and products to- cap1tahze on the technologlcal
" advances in the Internet. Tl’llS process is costly and we cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully integrate our = -
- services and products with thé Internet’s technologlcal advances. The products that collect, store, manage and disserninate _
3 ' commercial real estate information from a centralized, database on the Internet-were developed recently and continue to
...+ evolve. Our market is charactefized by rapldly changmg technologles, evolving 1ndustry standards; increasingly: sophisti- .
cated customer needs. ‘and frequent new product introductions. These factors are exacerbated by the rapid technologrcal '
change expenenced in"the computer and software industries. Our business 1ncreasmgly depends on-our ability to antici-
" pate and adapt to all of these changes, as well as our customers’ ab111ty to adapt to the use of our ex15t1ng and future serv-
) " ices and products on. the' Internet. We could incur substantial costs if we need to. modify our services-or infrastructure in -~ .
s+ -, " order to adapt to these changes and our customers’ failure to accept these’ changes could’ have a material adverse effect o
", - on our reverues. If we incurred s1gn1f1cant costs: w1thout adequate results or' we are unable to adapt to, raprd technologr-
“cal changes, it could have a material adverse effect on our business:.

.
’

, " Unsatisfactory. Internet performance, znterrnptzon or fazlure could have an adverse effect on our busmess Our busr- ‘
N . hess increasingly. depends upon the satrsfactory performance, reliability and avallablhty of our Web site, the Internet and
Do ' the World Wide Web. Problems with our Web site, the Internet or the Web may 1mpede the development of our busmess
:* foranumber of reasons. As the number of Internet users or their use ‘of Internet resources continues to grow, and.as com: - °
©+ < panies. deliver 1ncreas1ngly larger amounts of data over the Internet, the Intérnet’s infrastructure must also grow. Growth
"~ in Internet usage that is'not matched. by comparable growth of the infrastructure supportlng the’Internet could resultin |,

- slower response time, cause- outnght failure of the: Internet, or otherwise adversely affect usage. In addlnon if we experi- .
' ence technical problems in d1str1but1ng our products over the Web, mcludmg mterruptron or failure of services provided
x by our local exchange carriers or Internet servrce provrders, we could’ experlence rediiced demand for our products EECRR

N - Temporary or permanent outages. of - our cornputers soﬁware or telecommiunications, equzprnent could bave an oo
_ adverse effect on our business. Our operations depend on our. ability to protect our database computers and software,”
“ telecommunications equipment and facilities against’ damage from potential dangers: such’ as fire, power loss, security
breaches, and telecommumcanons failures.:Any temporary or permanent loss of one or more’of these systems or facili-- .
S0 des from an. accrdent -equipment malfunction or some other cause could harm Gur busmess 'If we experience a failure *
that results in our not bemg able to dehver our products to cllents or to update our, products we could expenence reduced K

demand for our products e ‘ ST D PR

We may be subject 1o legal lzabzlzty for dzsplaymg or dzstrtbutzng informiation. Because the content in our database s
- -~ distributed to others, .we may be’subject to claims for defamation, neghgence or copynght or trademark infringement or
) " claims based-on other theories: We could also be sub]ect to'claims based upori the content that is accessible from our Web
. " site thirough links to other Web sites or mformatron on ‘our Web site supplied by third parnes ‘Even if these claim¢ do not
‘ result in liability to us, we could incur srgmflcant costs in investigating and defend1ng against any claims. Our potennal
~ liability for. mformanon distributed by us'to others could require us to-implement measures to- reduce our exposure 'to ha-
blhty, which may requlre the expendlture of substantral resources and limit the attractiveness of our service to' users.

u

)

We may be’ nnable to enforce or defend our. ownersth and use of zntellectual property The success of our- business
depends in large part on the’ 1ntellectual property involved in our methodologies,-database and. software. We rely on.a ..
combmanon of trade secret, patent, copyright and- other laws, nondisclosure ‘and noncompetition’provisions, llcense
“agreements and: other contractual provisions and technical measures to protect our intellectual property rights. However, -
" current law may not. prov1de for adequate protecnon of our databases and the actual data In addltron,l legal standards .
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relatmg to the valrdrty, enforceabrlrty and scope of protecnon of proprxetary r1ghts in Internet related busmesses are uncer-
tain and evolvmg, and'we cannot assure you of the future viability or value of. .any of our proprietary rights. Our business =
* could be srgmflcantly harmed if we are notable to protect our content and-our other intellectual property. The same would
be true if-a court found-that our services infringe other persons’ intellectual property rights. Any intellectual property law-

‘ suitsin which we are involved, either as a plaintiff or as a defendant, could cost us a significant amount of timeé and money. -
- i . In addition, if-any intellectual property clalms are adversely deterrmned this could result in a’material adverse result oft .-
' our f1nanc1al position and our business.. e L -

\
\

F thzgatzon in which we become zm/olved may adz/ersely affect our busmess Currently and from time to time, we are L
' mvolved in litigation mcrdental to the conduct of our business. We cannot assure you that we will have insurance to cover - - E
© . cour pendmg claims or our future clajms. Any lawsuits in which we are involved could cost its a significant amount of time -

s ;f and money. If any pénding claims or future claims are adversely determmed they could have a materlal adverse effect on- - oo
’ -our financial position or results of operatlons - o N .- ’

VR Our buszness depends on retammg and attractmg hzghly capable management and operatmg personnel. Our success”
o " depends in large part on our ability to retain and attract management and .operating personnel, 1nclud1ng our President
‘and Chief Executive Officer, Andrew Florance, our officers, and other key employeées. Our business requires highly skilled

 technical, sales,- ‘management, Web- -development, marketmg and research _personnel, who are in high'demand and are

> often sub]ect to competing offers. To retain and attract key personnel, we use various measures including employment

agreements, a ‘stock option plan;and i incentive bonuses for key i executive officers. These measures may not be enough to .

" retain and attract the personnel we need or to offset the rmpact on our busmess of the loss of: the servxces of Mr. Florance

\ " orotherkeyofﬁcersoremployees “ ; B - C e L

~*.. . . Problems wzth our softu/are could impair the use of our services. The software underlymg our servrces is complex
L and: ‘may contain- undetected errors. We have previously. dlscovered errors in our proprietary software, Desprte testing, we
e cannot be certain that errors will nor be found in current ver51ons new versions or enhancements of our software. Any
~ errors could result in adverse pubhcrty, impaired use of our services, loss of revenues, cost increases and legal clarrns by

Ce customers All these factors could ser1ously damage our busiriess, operatmg results and f1nanc1al condltlon .-

- Internatiorial expanszon may result in new buszness risks. If we expand mternatlonally, tl'llS expans1on could subject
- - - ustonew business risks, 1nclud1ng adapring to the differing business practices and laws in‘foreign commerc1al real estate
markets, CllfflCultlES in’ managing foreign operations; limited protection' for intellectual property rights in some countries;.
d1ff1culty in collecting accounts receivable and longer collection petiods; costs of enforcing contractual obllgatrons impact R
o of recessions in economies outsrde the United States; currency exchange rate fluctuanons and potennally adverse tax con- :
sequences v : : o R

o We may not be able to manage successfully our geographzc expanszon Our future busmess and f1nanc1al success will
depend on our abllrty to manage our geographic expansion.. Our efforts to manage expanded growth must occur while
1nformanon technology is rapidly changmg These efforts 1 1mpose additional Burdens on our research; systems develop-

v . ment, sales, and general mandgerial resources. If we were not able to manage our expanded growth successfully, it would

have a materral adverse effect on our profltablllty T T : . . - e

If we are unable to provzde our clients wzth trammg and customer support our busmess could-be harmed. Itis impor- . -
, .. _tant thatour clients find our products easy to use: To meet these needs, we provide client training and have developeda - .
A clrent support network that seeks to respond to client inquiries as-soon as possible. If we do not maintain adequate traln- )

1ng and support levels we could -experience reduced demand for- our servrces

e TIf there isa reductzon in our supply of data from public record proz/zders, our busmess could be harmied. We llcense
©7 0 asmall portlon of our data from public records providers- and other-data providers to enhance our products and’ serv1c~ S
- . es. If we are unable to eriter into licensing agreements with these entities, or if this data’ becomes unavallable for anyr rea—

~ son, we could experlence mcreased costs and our fmancxal posmon could be adversely affected. . e

et Our increasing use of the Internet and the World Wzde Web exposes us to regulatory and. other uncertamtzes Most

of our clients currently receive their CoStar data via-the Internet. This.exposes us to various uncertainties arlsmg from the

- future course of development:of the Internet and the World Wide Web: ‘Governments in the United States and abroad
coon _might adopt laws or- regulatrons applicable to Internet commerce that could harm our business by, for example regulat-.
e mg our transm1ssmns over the Intemet or exposrng our busmess to new, taxes in various ]urlSdlCtIOHS User concerns about
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: ess. We-may need , -~ ;-
.~ toexpend substantial resourcés to protect against security breaches on-our Webrsite or in our Internet-communications: , ‘

the privacy and security. of Interhet-distributed communications might impede the growth of our busin

/ v

. " We face risks associated with legislation in the real estate industry. Real estate is d regulated industry in the United .
, States. These laws and related reguldtions; anid any newly adopted regulations; may limit or restrict our activities or could-- - © -

7. require us to expend significant resources to comply.. As the teal estate industry evolves in the Internet environment, legt s
S is}'aitdrs\',/:egulatorsland«ind\ﬁstry participants may advocate additional legislative or regulatory initiatives. Should existing - * -

STyt laws or regulations:be .amended or new-laws or regulations be adopted, we may need 'tojwc‘d/mplly with-additional legal - -
© » . requirements-and incut resulting costs, or we may: be precluded from certain activities. In addition, if we-are found to be: .
" in violation of these regulations; we may.incur penaltiés anid legal costs or we may be precluded from certain activities.. .7

| I . .
SN 4

. . Ourbusiness depends.on our managément team’s ability to execute our business plan. Our business depends onl the” - 0

ability. of our assembled management team to successfully éxecute our business. plan. The inability of our management - ",

'

Ay team~'gofétigiéeééfull{ezée’cu‘t\e\ our business plan'could have an a'd\?ers’equfgct on our operations. - T . . IR
R R | do not g'eﬁerdté sufficient cash flows from operations, we may need additional .capital. To daté; we have “ 7
BRI financed our operations through cash from profitable opérations in‘certain of ou.regions, the sale of our’stock and bor= "~ e
’ _ ' rowing money. If we do.not generate <e;ioﬁgh;/ca’sl{a‘frorpv0perati'orxls’\t0 finance our busjnéss in the future, we will needto” ..
" raise additional funds through publicor private financing. Selling additional-equity securities could dilute the equity inters - - -
R &sts of otir stockholders. If we borrow money, we will havé to, pay irit\é.rest_\and agree to' restrictions that may limicour > -

) ., operating flexibility. We may ndtbe able to obtain-funds needed to finance our operations at-all or may be able to obtain . S
7. funds’only on unattractive terms. If 'we tequire additional funds and’ate not able to. obtain such funds, it would have'a * | o
~material advetse effect on.our operations. .~ - - S PR

. Market volatility may have an adverse effect on’onr stock price; The trading price of our common stock has fluctu-" -+~ 7 ‘
ST ated widely in the past, and We expect 'that it will ‘continue to fluctuate: in, the-future. The price could fluctuate widely. ;. 1=
2T < based on numerous factors, including: quarter-to-quarter variations in‘our operating results; changes in aialysts”estimates , ;o
.+ =" of our earnings; announcements by us or our competitors of technological innovations or new setvices; general'conditions. - -

.~ in the commiercial real estate industry; developmerits or disputes: concerning copyrights or proprietary rights; regulatory
[ - developments; and economic or other factors. In addition, in recent years, the stock market in"general; and the shares of > .«

o . Internet-related and other technology companies‘in particular, have experienced extreme price fluctuations. This volatili- » . -
ty has had a‘substantial effect.on the market prices of securities issued by many.companies for reasons-unrelated to the L
E . operating performance of the specific companies. Lo T T T
> . Stock ownership by executive officers and directors provides substantial irifluence over matters. requiring a voté of . ’

"¢ . stockbolders: Our executive officers and directors, and entities affiliated with them, beneficially own-a sufficient number” = . -~

of shares of our outstanding common stock to exercise substantial influence over the election of directors and ‘other mat- .

, tefs requiring a vote.of stockholders. This concentrated. ownership might delay or prevent a change ‘i_'n)-co‘ntrol and may
imipede.or prevent transactions in which, stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares.. - ..

~

’(_,]Ifem\7A’ "Quaht/itativfe 'avnd:fQualitétive DisclosﬂresAbQutMarkétstk- SRR T A

"> - We do not have'significant exposure to market risks associated with changes in interest rates related to cash equiva- = "~

o L lent securitiés held as of December 31,2001.. . T S I LI LU
’..f » . . JTE N " ', - N ’;- i . :‘_\\-:‘“t/ ‘;‘/ - ’ :~ - “‘»"’l AR e - >x/;'~ ‘\ '
T TIteme8 277 Financial Statements and Supplementary Data -~ '~ -0 o T e IR
o T L oo . R R R RO T e T
. Finangcial Statements meeting the requirements.of Regulation 5-X are set forth beginning at page ¥-1. . .- . .- L
Item 9. - ‘Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure- .. - -~ - < ..
{Not applicablé.- ~© oo Tl TR : IRETE AT -
N - - RN [N T L , ’ :"\ ‘ , 7 ) ° " ' - L
) R AR - R ;/\ . oz -, L ;- - ;L L - N ) S ] g
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o i . | - _ . N _ L - - (,\,_‘ . ) , p .
- , ”. ‘ e - X : - . T ' - . - t B} ' ’\ v - S ~ - (\ B
- B . : i NN -




~ PARTII
Item 10 Directors and Executive Officers of the Registraht -

N ;The fnformeition required'by this Irem is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.

. Htem 1 Executzve Compensatzon S

- The information required by this Item is- mcorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement. .

/ TItem' ]12 Secumy Ouwnership of Certam Benef cial Owners and Management

The mformatlon requlred by thlS Ttem is 1ncorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.

. Item 113 Certam Relatlonsths and Related Tmnsachons ‘

The mformauon requlred by thrs Item is mcorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement. ‘

"\.PARTW.

| . Tem 14 Exhzbzts Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on JForm 8K

(a)(1) The following finanicial statements are filed as a part of thlS report CoStar Group, Inc Consolldated
* ' Financial Statements. : . .

(2)(2) All schedules are omltted because they are not apphcable or not requlred or because the required informa- " ;
- tion is incorporated here by- reference or mcluded in the f1nanc1al statements or related notes mcluded else-
where in this report. ' o

(\a)(3) The documents requ1red to be flled as CXhlbltS to thlS Report under Item. 601 of Regulauon S-K are hsted n
the Exhibit Index included elsewhere in this report, Wthh list is incorporated herein by reference

(b)‘ - We d1d not flle any reports.on Form 8-K durlng the quarter ended, December 31, 2001

’
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P R PP S]IGNATURES [ U R
\ Pursuant to the requlrements of Sectron 1370f the Securmes Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Regrstrant haS\ I
duly caused thrs report to be signed on its behalf by the under31gned thereunto duly authorrzed in the City- of Bethesda, -
‘ State of Maryland onrthe 27th day of March 2002. S
e S S ‘\GOS‘TARGROUP*,ING./\*D‘;",f‘ /
) , S S 7Andrew'C.'Fl\brance: A N
‘ o l 3 . Chief Exegutive Ofﬁc’er and Prés‘ident AN
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that each mdrvndual whose s1gnature appears below constrtutes:
- and appoints Andrew C. Florance and Frank A. Carchedl power of substltutron, for him and in his name, place and stead, -
in-any and all capacmes to sign any. ‘and all amendments to this report and to file the” same, with all exhibits thereto and, R
o to all-documents in-connection therewith, w1th the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys- -
' infact and agents;.and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite
" “and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to confirming all, that sald attorheys-in- -fact and agents or,
.~ anyof them or hrs or thelr subst1tute or substitutes, may lawfully. do or cause to be done by virtue hereof
Pursuant to the requrrements of the Securmes Exchange Act of 1934 -as amended thls report has been srgned by the .
followmg persons in the capacities 1nd1cated on. the dates mdlcated oLy - : ~
’ ;'&Signature . e Co 7,' Capaciry I N . Date
g o Chairman/orrhé Board. . . March 27,2002 ST
cooe ST Michael R Klein "~ " .0 B e S PR
N " ChiefExecutive Officerand .~ . March 27,2002
AR - Andrew C. Florance . ..~ President, and a Director . . ° S
S A (Principal Executive Officer): - Ty
s S Chlef Fmanc1a1 Offlcer BN l / March 27, 2002 )
i ) Frank A: Carchedi ©  * * (Chlef F1nanc1al and Accountlng Ofﬁcer) AR S
A L ]jireeror P T j,'f"»»,/March 27-,-2002\'" )
Dayid‘Bond\errnan;‘ S D e ‘ AR . L
W Diketor ool of March 27,2002
I WarrenH:Haber" S R : at
N .~ Director ... o March 27,2002 ,
_ Josiah 0. Low, I~ T e SR e
. . R o , o, . , L R . ~ P R
oy = T Digector < 0+ Maich 27,2002
" John Simon T T e
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. Exhibit No, _

rNDEXTOEXHMﬂrs;/“

Descnpnon B

AT

”Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among CoStar Group, Inc., COMPS COM Inc and AcqSub,

Inc., dated as of November 3, 1999 (Incorporated by. reference to Exhrbrt 2.1 to the'Current Report of -

T the Reglstrant on Form 8-K (Frle No 0-24531y frled with the Commrssron on November 17, 1999)
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211
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. “on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 (the “1999 10-K”).

- fCoStar Group, Inc. 1998 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (Incorporated by reference to Exhxbrt 10.1 to -
- the Registrant’s Report on Form 10- Q dated ]une 30,2001). . : ‘

*102

o “Side Letter, dated February 10, 2@00 by and between CoStar Group, Ine.”and Christopher Crane\~

(Incorporated by reference to Exhlbrt 2 2 to the Reglstrants Report on Form 10- Q dated March 31, -,

~ ' 2000);

‘Restated Certificate of Incorporatlon (Incorporated by reference 1o Exhrbrt 3. 1 to Arnendment No. 4t . ‘
“the Registration. Statement - on- Form S-1 .of -the Registrant (Reg No 333 47953) flled with the L

Commrss1on on June 30, 1998 (the “1998 Form 5-17)).

Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporatron (Incorporated by reference to Exhrbrt
© 3.1 tothe Regrstrants Report on Form 10- Q dated: June 30 1999) :

* -Amended and, Rested By—Laws (Incorporated by reference to-Exhibit 3.2 to the 1998 Form S 1)

~

Specrmen Common Stock Certificate (Incorporated by reference to Exhrbrt 4110 the Regrstrant S Report \

* Employmerit Agreement for Andrew C Florance (Incorporated by reference fo Exl’llblt 10 210 the 1998 e
vForm S-1). .- : ‘ ‘ . .

| Employment Agreement for Frank A. Carchedr (Incorporated by reference to Exhxblt 10 3.0 the 1998 N
- Form §-1). , : : :

'Employmient Agreement for Davrd M Schaffel (Incorporated by reference to Exhlbrt 10 4 to the 1998 -

Form S- 1)

Employment Agreement for Larry Dressel (Incorporated by reference to: Exhrblt 10 Lo the Regrstrant S

Report-on- Form 10-Q dated September 30, 2000)..

_ ‘Employment Terms for Craig Farrmgton (Incorporated by reference to EXl’llblt 10. 7 to the Regrstrants ‘
" Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000). - X R

. ?Reglstratron Rrghts Agreement (Incorporated by reference to. Exhrbrt 10:7 to the 1998 Form §- 1)

. 'Offrce Lease, dated August 12, 1999, between CoStar. Realty Informanon, Inc. and Newlands Burldmg B ’
- Ventures, LLC (Incorporated by reference o Exhrblt 10 2 to the Regrstrant s Report on Form 10 -Q dated, S

September 30, 1999)

Office Burldmg Lease dated ]anuary 31, 1999 between Comps Inc and Comps Plaza Assocrates LP

(Incorporated by referénce to Exhibit 10. 14 to the Regrstratlon Statement of Comps on Form S-1 (Reg.

+ No. 333-72901) filed wrth the Commrssron onApril 5, 1999 (the “Comps Form 5-17)).

Frrst Amendment to Lease dated March 22, 1999 between Comps Inc. and Comps Plaza Assocrates ;

o - . LP (Incorporated by reference to Exhlbrt 10. 14 1 to the’ Comps Form S- ).
- 1001, -

Sublease Agreement' dated - ]une 28, 1999 between Comps, Inc.. and Pulse Englneermg, Inc )

A(Incorporated by reference to Exh1b1t 10. 11 to the 1999 10- K) L
ISubs1d1ar1es of the Reglstrant (ﬁled herew1th) e S
| Consent of Independent Audrtors (frled herew1th) VO
-‘Powers of Attorney (Included in the Slgnature Pages to the Report)

'*‘“‘Management Contract or Compensatory Plan or Arrangement

24
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ey ' REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
\/Board\ofDir'ectors _ : . . S
‘CoStar Group,Inc. ~* = - , Lot L e

We have audited the accompanying consolrdated balance sheets of CoStar Group, Inc. as of December 31 2000 and -
- +2001, and the related consohdated staternents of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2001. These financial : statements are the; responsrblllty of the Company’s man-
agement Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

, We conducted our ‘audits in accordance with audltmg standards generally accepted in the United States. Those stan-
P dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
"+ are free of material-misstatement. An audit includes examining; on 4 test ba51s evrdence supporting the amounts and dis-
closures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accountmg principles used and s1gn1f1cant esti- -
" mates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall f1nanc1al statement presentatron We belleve that -our audrtst
provide a reasonable basis for our opmlon - _,t :

' In ur opmron the financial statements referred to above present falrly, in all mater1al respects, the consolrdated
. . financial position of CoStar-Group, Inc. at December 31,2000 and 2001, and the consolidated results of their operations
© . and their cash flows for each of the three years in the perlod ended December 31, 2001, in conformlty Wltl’l accountmg
> prrncrples generally accepted in the Unrted States. - , BT PRI -

/ : o

15/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

'

MeLean,Virg_inia o \ S o S
~ February 11,2002 . o o LN e . o S

F2.




. C@STAR GROUIP IINC o
C@NSOIL]UDATIED STATEMENTS OIF OPERATIONS
‘ - Year Ended December 31, o
i 1999 © 2000 © 2001 ¢
REVOIUES. - et P g 30234213‘ T8 8502, 300 S 7510952
‘Costofrevenues‘ ...... PR S ,13 243, 813‘, : 30,202,464 - -30,316, 161

- Selling and marketing. . . 17, 964 829
Software development RV R T 108,197
“ General and administrative Lo o ST 11,054 4{02
“Purchasé aMOTTZAton &+ £+ 1+ v veeer e e

* Acquired in- process development. el o R
, ' o LT . 32,373,263 - 1.83334,569 - 64,923,159
" Loss from operation’s. A PR (15,382,863) - (55 034 731) o (22 726 368)
Other income (expense): » ‘ C SR L ]
Loss on disposal of assets. P AN - (180 721) (21 942)
Interest EXPENSE .\ .o s TP .. (295,880) - (18,322
Interest income. . . .- i el L 3 106 190 s 3,866,133_ -1 692 404 -
. Other. expense e R R - (54, 764) o (74, 563)._ -
‘ Loss before iNCOME TAXES.,, « v v v vae s ensienin (12 276 673) C T (511699,963) 1(21,148,591) .
Income tax beneﬁt ....... P R e - © 2, 045 014 987,262
© Netloss. e e e $\(12',276,673) $(49,654,949) - $(20,161,329)
- ‘Net loss per share — basrc and drluted T $(1.05) | - $(3.28) . $(1.29)

'Werghted\average outstandrng shares. . L B

" See accompanying notes. ©

GrOSS MATEIN: . .o £ et 16990400

- Operatmg expenises: . T . "

! 2;2’45,8_35

| '2_8,299,838 o

37,644,107
- 3,864,380 .
. 27,085,784 1 -
. 8,928298
. -.5;812,000‘;“ L

42, 196 791

| 23’,502,-1065[;
5136734
128,438,501 - ¢

7,845,818

. ‘»F_S} P

11,726,589

415,136,976

15,635,931 ¢+ -




, COSTAR GROUP JINC R
‘ CONS@L]IDATED BA]LAN CE S]HﬂEETS
s . December 3i, R .
L - 2000 om
- ASSETS. . ) 0 o
‘ Currentassets s P . . ; o
’ ~ Cash and cash equrvalents I P I $ 43,925,195 v - $ 30,746,087 ¢ -
Short -term investments.-.. . . . . .. ST N Laay o 83,176,047 - +11,256,115 .
" Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts . ’ S B T
.. ofapproximately $2,890,000 and $2 483\000 o S e
T *" as of December 31, 2000 and 2001 .o e ceeL 276,148,399 ' 5,982,896 j
o Prepald expenses and other current assets. . ....... .. Y i 861,613 ' 956,709 .
: Total current assets. . . . . T L:; e : 54,11\1 254 48 941, 807
Property and ¢ equrpment L e Coo T s
" Leasehold improvements .. ... ;... i oL oL Civeewel T 2,074, 122 o2 487 531‘
Furniture, office equipment and- ‘research vehrcles ..... el o7 054 810 , 7,288,998
Computer hardware and software Ce e el ‘12 038 698 - 13,489,455
B U7 TR A TR 21167630 23,265,984
Accumulated depreciation R Ll e o o -« (6,474,886) (11 390 271)
L T 14 744 ‘/ 11,875,713 . ' .
S "Goodwrll mtanglbles and other assets net. R 76 658,067 162,471,547 .
' ﬂDeposns....’ ...... ool 408,561 356,914
", Tortal assets.’.. ... i el 145,870,626 0 $123.645.981
\ . LEAB]HL]IT}[ES AND STOC]IGHIO]LDERS’ EQUITY
Current habrhnes T O o R B
Accounts payable. e IR B R $ 5t 417 199 $ 1216 823 Rt
Accrued wages and cornrnlssrons i el oS, 093 220 : 4,985,866
Accrued éxpenses . .. . . ; e D 7,049,886 4,891,786
oL Deferred revenue ... .. ... i e et 704949289 . 4,532285 .
Total current hablhnes S e e RN 18 509,594 " 15 626 760
* Deferred taxes : . . ... ...... . 987262 ) -
+ Stockholders’ equity:. : o " e coo T .
.. Preferred stock, $ 01 par value, 2 ,000, OOO shares , RN ‘ -
* authorized; none outstandlng. B B T L= -
- Common stock, $ 01 par value; 30,000, OOO shares S o
“ authorized; 15,545,139 and 15,717,883 issued and e - o ’ o
- outstandmg as of December - 31, 2000 and 2001. S 155 451 o o 157,178 .
Addrtlonal paid-in capltal ...... PN el 202, 761,692 . 204,566,745
" Refained deflc1t. R e e PO celn - (76,543 373) - (96,704,702)
: ]Total stockholders” equify. . <~ .. i oL 126,373,770 = 108,019,221 .
: Total habrhnes and stockholders equrty. e e Coeie o $145.870,626 $123,645,981
o ,'See accompanymg notes R . . s 8
y . E;4




( | X COSTARGROUPI[NC A L
CONSOIL]IDATED STATEMENTS O]F STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUI{TY N
' ’\‘:fT ‘ B \‘5 ; T 7\' - Addmonal v Total *
3 , el T s T Common Stock St Paid'—Iﬁ:_ Retamed ' Stockholders’
'.f/ S R S N ,Shares . Amount ©~ + " Capital - ‘f ' Deficit > 2 Equity -
Balance atDecember 31, 1998.;.‘._'.’:...‘.‘ T 8771027 ~§ 87,710 $ 37,727,345 *‘$(14,611',’j751‘)' :$'23,203,304 \
. Exercise of stock-options. . -. ... . ‘121 907 1,219 927447 U o 928,666 T
e '-‘;Stock1ssuedforfoﬂowon SR A T P '
e o publicoffering e, s 3019495 ) (‘30,195 L 97381 198 Lo = 97411393
Ce ',stocklssuedforacqmsmons....i. :_1046516 10466 0 10325271 ot o~ 10335737 .

,Stock issued for' compensatxon :8,330’7 sl 83 o .74,887\ T - ’\74,9,‘7,0,\‘ -

8 .Reducuon of note receivable” . ‘/» S NS - \ S e
‘ : from’ stockholder....!;. R R AL RN g \19406 el o= 19,406

k e Netloss oo e S el L ‘(12,276673) (1227‘6673)'
| Balance at Decennber 31, 1999 \..j;‘.{.; "12 967,275 . 1295673~ 146 455 554, ;,\,‘(26,888,424) -119,696,803 .
’ Exerc1se of stock. options:... ... .. ./';“. 269,776 ,;_42;6‘9,8»\ 2099,285" = 2,101, 983
o o » Stock issued for acquisitions .+ ... v. . 2,272,794 22,728 .+ 54207205 . >_? 154, 229, 933
Lo Warrants i 35294 R \35;‘,_’-, (352) ' : O
LU Netloss oo mla =T T (49654949) (49654949) ‘
-+ Balanceat December31 2000 MO 5,545, 139 155451 - 202 761,692 ,(‘76,_5435373) 126373770
« Exercise of stock optlons...‘.‘ ...... et 167,739 1677, 0 L7IS253°0 0 = - ‘1716 930 . . .
{ ' Resmcted stock grants 1ssued oo v 03005 00 SO - 89,800 - I : .89, 850 /}: PR
CNetloss < S S TS 0161,329)  (20,161,329) 0
Balance at December31 2001 ...... e ‘,1557,1‘7,883k,~$157,1"78 $204,566,745 - $(96,704,702)" $108,019,221 ~ "
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COSTAR GR@UP INGC.,
C@NSOU]DATIED STATIEMENTS O]F CASH IF]LOWS
Year Ended December 31, ]

o 1999. - 2000 . - 2001
Operating activities: o S \ B R - ‘ ‘
o Netloss Ll v $(12.276,673) 0 $(49,654,949) 0 $(20,161,329) .

. - Adjustments to reconcile net loss to. net cash ' - : S ] - . A
~ used in operating actlvmes ; ‘ B .
, Deprecxatlon B AN 1,148,531 4,261,468 - - 4915385
Amortization. ... ........ P 3,705,238 . 14,547,368 14,334,482
*, Acquired in-process developmient . ... ......... P - 5,812,000 ) -
" Loss on disposal of assets . . . ... .. R 180,721 - 21,942
" Income tax benefit. ... .. ... R e =T (2,045,014) © 0 (987,262)
Provision for lossés on accounts receivable .. ... 974,578 " 2,312,089 2,453,046
~ Non-cash compensation charges . . ... . ... e 19406 S - o -

: Changes in operating assets and hablhtles o : T S
Accounts receivable ... ... . 0 e L (2 494 232) ©(1,329,576) ¢ (2,287,543) ©
Prepaid expenses and- other current assets. . ... .o v | (2,057,418) T 0 3,081,479  :(95,096)

Deposits . .o vnn PN R . (230 493) . 1,188,088 . - 141,497

‘Accounts payable and accrued expenses. e 3773811 ©(1,661,917) . (2,465,830) -

_ Deferred revenue ......... e (39,410) "(3,538,022) - (417,004) . - !
Net cash used in operatxng actlvmes. e e . (7,476,662) ‘ . (26, 846 265)« P (4,547,712) o
Investmgacnvmes....‘.._..‘ ............ S I S L o
-, Purchases and sales of short-term 1r1vestments e - (18,222,318) i 15 046 271 . (8,080,068) - ;
" Purchases of property and equ1pment. e L (4,520,375) (11 493 ,570) - (2,098,354) '
~ Otherassets ... 7o i e P . (2,198,832) 7 (3,133,033) . (169,904)
- Acquisitions, net of acquired cash......... e : (9,736,950) C(3,6v1,000) - -
-~Net cash used in investing activities .........:..... - (34,678,475) T (2,651,332) - (10,348,326)
\\Fmancmgactlvmes..........\.....»...t..ff..‘.'....\....‘ o R L
Payment of long-term liability. :............. ool = : (4,531,000). . > - =
" Net proceeds from public.offerings. . . .. .. .. S 97411,393 0 = -
Net proc‘eeds from exercise of stock options. .. ... ... .. . .928,666. - 2,101,983 .. " 1,716,930
Net cash provided by (used 1n) investing activities . ... ‘98,3'40,‘0/59 T (2,429017) ¢ 1,716,930 "
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .. . .. .o 756,184,922 . (31,926,614) - (13,179,108).
'Cash and cash equivalents at begmnmg of year ... L. 19,666,887 . 75,851,809 - 43,925,195
' Cash and cash equivalerits-atend of year . ;... ... ........ - $75851,809 ~ '$43925195 ° '$30,746,087
See dccompanying notes.
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solely wrthrn one bus1ness segment ‘ Lo T

" COSTARGROUBING. T i- |
N@TJES O corvsorrnmrrn lF]lNANClIAL STATIEMJENTS ‘

1. ORGANlIZA"lllION

CoStar Group, Inc. (the “Company”) has created a comprehenswe, proprletary database of commerc1al real estate - -
information for metropolitan areas throughout the Un1ted States. Based on its unique database, the Company provides

: 1nformat1on t0-the commercial real estate -and related business community and, operates within one reportable’ busmess,

. -segment. The ‘information in the Company’s database is dlstrlbuted to 1ts chents under llcense agreements Wh1ch are typ- L

-

- ically one to tbree years in duratlon JRCI S S g

) SUMMARY OF SI[GNllFlICANT AcconNrrNG POLICIES o e s

BASlSOlFPRlES]ENTAM@N ST e f ST

The consolidated ﬁnancral statements of the Company include the accounts of LeaseTrend Tnc. (“LeaseTrend y

'acqurred on January 8, 1999, Jamison_ Research, Inc. (“Jamison”) acquired on January 22, 1999, ARES Development
Group, LLC (“ARES”) acqurred on September 1571999, COMPS.COM,; Inc. (“Comps”):acquired on February 10,2000

‘\ - and First Image Technologies, Inc. (“Fitst Image”) acquired and metged into Comps on November 9, 2000. LeaseTrend -
* and Jamison were merged into CoStar on December-31, 1999 and ARES was merged mto CoStar on December 31 2000 '

Comps was. merged into CoStar on Decernber 31, 2001

CONSO]LIDDAHON ) . R S o , .
‘ The consohdated fmanc1al statements 1nclude the'/aCCount'"s‘ of the Company and its subsidiaries ‘after elimination.of -
all 51gn1f1cant 1ntercompany transactrons L T T e
UsrorrsnMATEs _" r ‘\ Lo

The preparatron of fmanc1al statements in- conformlty w1th accountmg prlncrples generally accepted in the Un1ted o

States requires management to make estimates and assumptions. that affect the: amounts reported i the f1nanc1al states
~¢’ments and accompanyrng notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. : : -

‘?chrAssmcmmNs R RS f R

Certaln prev1ously reported amounts have been reclass1f1ed to conform to the Company’s current presentation. .

RJEVENUERECOGNM@N B S L |
, Revenue from the sale of llcenses is recogmzed ona stralght hne ba51s over the term of the hcense which is typrcal—

ly from one fo three years. Deferred revenue results from advance cash recelpts from the sales of hcenses and is recogmzed \
-over the term of the licenses. - e S ,

erchmcusromRs R S T T
© No single customer. accounted for more than 5% of our revenues as‘of Decemnber 3\1,’:200“1\.\The«,Company\operates -

COMPREH]ENSWE l[NCOMlE (lLOSS)

For the years ended December 31, 1999 2000 and 2001 the Company S net 1ncome (loss) reﬂects comprehenswe e \
1nc0me (loss) and accordmgly, no addmonal drsclosure is presented LT s — o -

ADVERTJIS]INGCOSTS S e B

. The Company expenses advert1smg costs as 1ncurred Advertlsmg expense was $1 332 OOO $4 028 OOO and': L
$26 8, OOO for the years ended December 31 1999 2000 and 2001 respecnvely , ‘

T

2
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o COSTARGROUBING =~ |
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (CONTINUED)

- INCOMETAXES . - © 0 7 T | _
The Company provides for income taxes under-the provisionsjofrStater‘hént\of’,Finanq'ial Accounting Standards No..
109(“FAS 109”). Deferred income taxes result from temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities
"+ and the Basis reported in the Compary’s consolidated financial statements. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are deter-~
‘ mined based on the difference between financial staternent and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted rates expect- ..
" ed to'be in effect during the year in which the differences reverse. Valuation allowances are provided against assets, includ-
ing net operating losses, if it is anticipated that some or all of the asset may not be realized through future taxable earn-
ings or implémentation of fax planning strategies; T g IO TR

- STOCK:BASED COMPENSATION o o | o
" The Company, accounts for its stock-based compensatior in accordance with APB No. 25, “Accoun;fi;rigfor Stock
‘ ~ Issued to Employees™ ( “APB.25”) using the intrinsic value method. Sto\¢k-ba§cdlcompensa;iorzi related to options grant--
.. . ed-to non-employees. is accounted for using the fair -value method in accordance with the Statement of Financial T
"7 - Accounting Standard Né. 123 “Accounting for, Stock-Based Compensation” (“FAS 123”). Thé Company has made: pro -
* forma disclosures required'by FAS 123 for all options granted. - R '
"~ CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS * N L
- The Coﬁlpgnj; tonéidérs all higﬁ]y liquid investments purchaségi ‘Wi‘t\h/ an orjgjhél maturity of threé m‘onth,s‘c\)r less-fo
. ‘be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist of money miarket fund investments and United States'Government Securities,
. substantially all of which are held with two nstitutions. At December 31, 2001 cash of $956,000 was held in accounts -
tos;hppoptletter,s'of\credit’. e R e . '

. SHORTTERM INVESTMENTS . o
The Compariy accounts qu short-term ‘in’ve_stmc;\rit"s in aécdrdanqs*with Statement-of Fina_nCiél‘Acéo’unting Standards

.1 (SFAS) No. 115, ‘“Ac\cc})unting\lfor Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” The Company determines the -
. appropriate classification of investments at the time of purchase and reevaluates such designation as of each balance sheet

.~ date. Short-term investments consist of debt securities that the Company classifies as available for sale. Such’securities are - -
- heldar the lower of cost or market, based on quoted market rates. The Company acquires short-term highly liquid invest-
ments from government agencies or corporate’ obligations with high-quality credit ratings. The weighted average maturi-
ties of short-term inivestments are less than one year. Due t6 the nature of these short-term investments, cost approximated -
fair market value at December 31,2000 and 2001. = =~ " ° / TREE v o
. CONCIENTRAJI'I[ON OF CREDIT RISK AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS . ‘ _ ;

" The Company performs ongoing credit ‘evaluations of its’ customers’ financial cpndition and genergallﬂyydoes not
‘-require that its customers’ obligations to the Company be seciired. The Company maintains reserves for creditlosses, and |
“such losses have been within management’s expectations. The risk of nonpayment of the Company’s accounts receivable
- Is mitigated by the large size and widespread nature of the Company’s customer base and lack of dependence on individ-

. ual customers. The carrying amount of the accounts receivable approximates their net realizable value: The carrying value '
of the Company’s financial instruments including cash and cash"_equivhlent's‘,‘short—term‘investment_S, accounts receivable; -

accounts payable,‘and accrued expenses approximates fair value. " =~ o

- PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT. - , : | oy C
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization are calculéted on, thé straight-line method - V

over the following estimated useful lives of the assets: -

| Léaééhqld Improvements

Shorter of lease term or useful llifej L

v v Furniture and office equipment © . Sevenyears' . .
© ¢~ 7 Research vehicles TR Three years . .
.Computer hardware and software =~ = - - Two to'five years ' - i
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NOTlES "l“@ CONS@M]DATIED lFllNAN ClAlL STAT]EMJENTS (CONT]INUED)

R A COSTARGROUPHNC e T L e e

A - - - - .

Imtral Costs to develop and produce the Company S database and software products, mcludmg drrect labor, contrac- :

tors and applrcable overhead ar¢’ caprtallzed from the-time technologrcal feasibility 1§ detérmined until mrtral product

- Ongoing srgmfrcant enthancemerits of the products are caprtalrzed subsequent to 1n1tral product release. Amomzatron of
caprtahzed costs is based on- the greater of the amount: computed using (a) the ratio of currentgross | reveniies.to the sum .
cof current and antrcrpated gross revenues, or (b):the stralght line method over. the: remaining estimated economic lifé of -
the’ product typically five years after ‘initial product release. Includediin amottization-is approxrmately $219;000,.

=. $318,000 and $239, 000 of expense related to the caprtalrzed product development costs. for the years ended December
31, 1999 2000 and 2001 respectrvely Ve RS A

S . B L . K

GooDWELE lNTANG]DBL]ES AND OEEEEE ASS]ETS e

PSS - -

Goodwrll and other mtangrbles represent the unamortrzed excess. of thé cost of acqurrmg compames over. the farr
value of such ‘comnpanies’ net “tangible : assets’ at the dates of acqursrtron Goddwill, acqulred technology, and customer base, -
- which-are related to- ‘the Company S acqursmons as described-in Note 3, are bemg amortized on’a straight-line basis over -
penods rangmg from two to. ten years The cost of photography is amortrzed ona strarght “line: basrs over frve years

/ > - . . Sl oo
- . - ' - - /

EoNG L]IV]EDASS]ETS o e e T T T

" 4 ~

In accordance wrth Statement of Fmanc1al Accountmg Standards (“SFAS”) No 121 “Accountmg for the
Imparrment of’ Long-Lrved Assets-and for Long—Lrved Asséts to be disposed- of”, management/ periodically reviews, it

* impairment indicators exist, the carrying, value and. llves of long lrved assets..For long—hved assets to be held-and used, the-

Company bases its “evaluation on such 1mpa1rment ‘indicators as the. nature of the assets, the future économic- benefrt of
“the assets, as well as other external market.conditions or factors that may be - present If such impairment, indicators are -
-“present or- other factors exist. that ‘indicate- that the carrying amount of the- asset. may not be- ‘recovérable, the Company* -
> detérmines, whether an rmparrment has occurred through~the use of an undiscounted- cash flows. analys1s of assets at the
-_lowestlevel for which 1dent1f1able cash flows exist. If impairment. has occurred, the Company recogmzes 4 loss for the drf-
ference ‘Between the carrymg amount and the estimated-value of ‘the asset: The fair value of the asset'is ‘measured’ usmg
drscounted cash flow. analysrs or other valuation techniques: In; addrtron, the Company evaluates'the recoverabrlrty of:
énterprise goodwrll by assessing whether thebook value can'be recovered: through expected and undrscounted cash flows

No rmparrment losses have been recorded durrng the perrods presented R N A S R

~ . - - . N - : - . <
- ’ - . NI oA N - ST e . PN K ~

w - S PN KRN ST N Sl

NETEOSSEEESHAEE | R A

- = S B - ~ K 3
&

Basic 65 per share is based on the werghted average “shates outstandmg durmg the perrod The calculatron of drlut-
ed loss per share reflects the drlutlve effects of outstandmg stock and other dilutive common stock equrvalents if any.
Drluted loss per share is equal to the basic loss per share.as the’ effect on the calculatlon of basrc loss per share assummg

the exercrse of comrnon stock equ1valents is antr drlutrve R
[ T N : C e N T

NEW ACCOUN’HNG EE@NOUNCEMENES L I

e D B (RN

Tn ]une 2001 the Frnancral Accountrng Standards Board 1ssued Statements of Fmancral Accountrng Standards No
- 144, “Business Combmatrons ', and No.- 142 “Goodwrll and Other; IntangrbleaAssets ; effectrve for fiscal years begrn—

. ning aftet December 15,2001. Undet the new, rule, goodwrll and- mtang1ble assets deemed to have indefinite lives’ Wlll 1o’

. longer. be-amortized: but- will be subject to-annual rmparrment tests in accorddnce with the Standards. Other mtangrble
assets will continue.fo be amortrzed over *their useful lives. The Company will- apply the new. rules on accounting for
goodwrll and mtangrble assets: deerned-to- have mdefrmte lives begrnnmg in the-first- quarter of 2002 The Company esti-
~'mates that thé’ effect of the new rules will be to décrease amortization expense -related to goodwrll by. approx1mately $3:7:

grble assets deemed‘to have mdefmrte lives as.of January ] 1, 2002. The Company does not expect that these tests will. have.
_ ariy effect on’our ‘earnings and financial position durrng 2002 Any charges taken upon adoptron of thrs statement would
be treated asa cumulatlve effect change in accountrng prmcrpl A PO R

st

K release “Prior to-technological feasibility, such. costs are classified as “software’ development and expensed-as incurred. - . ‘

" '_ mrllron in 2002. Durmg 2002, the Company will perform the first of the requrred impairment tests of goodwill and intan-




. 3.ACQUISITIONS. . R

.o e COSTAR GROUBING. SRR o
- . NOTES TO_C@NSOLEDATJED‘HNANQIAL STATEMENTS - (CONT?INU]ED)’ Pl
. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS (CONTINUED) © o : :
5 “In August ‘2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for f;he‘hhpairmén; or Disposal of LbngjLived Assets
{“SFAS No. 144”), which addresses the financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or-disposal of long:lived J
assets. SFAS No. 144‘supeérsedes SFAS No. 121 but retains SFAS No. 121% fundamental provisions for recognition/meas-

urement of impairment of long-lived assets to be held and lised,fand/,measurement'Qf long-lived assets to be dispesed of ‘
" by sale. SFAS No. 144 also supersedes the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30 for segments of

* a business to be disposed-of but retains the requirement to.report discontinued operations separately from continuing
_operations and extends that reporting requirement:to a component of an entity that either has beén disposed of or is clas-
' sified as'held for sale. SFAS No. 144 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and for interim peri-

-~ ods within those fiscal years. The Company does not expect the requirements of SFAS No. 144 to havean impactonthe

_ Company’s financial st'atcments‘ during fiscal year 2002.

- -/On January8, 1999, the Company acquired all 'of the-outstanding capital stock of LeaseTrend, Tnc., a;Cincinnati
- based provider of commercial real estate information, for $4,500,000 in cash and 566,671 shares of the Company’s com-
" mori stock. The transaction was accounted for as a purchase and the consideration was valued for accounting purposes |

at approximately $9,200,000,inc\:luding acquisition expenses. R ’ o e

* On January 22, 1999, the Company -acquired all ‘of the outstanding capital stock .of Jamison Research, Inc., an
Atlanta bBased provider of \commercjal‘re_a‘l,'es‘tate' information, for $5,284,000 in cash and 446,637 shares of the
) Company’s common stock. The transaction was accounted for as a purchase and the consideration ‘was valued for

accounting purposes at approximately $10,300,000 including lacq‘ui‘sition\ expenses.

~On Séptémber 15, 1999, the Corﬁpahy acquired all of the Trrie‘rﬁbership intéfgsté of ARES Develoi)rrient:Groﬁp,‘LLC,

Los Angeles based developers and distributors ‘of ARES for ACT!, for $250,000 in cash and 33,208 shares. of ‘the
Company’s common stock. The transaction was.accounted for as'a purchase and the consideration was valued for = -

accounting purposes at‘approximately $1,265,000 including acquisition expenses. In addition, the acquisition agreement* .

* provided for $1,000,000.of additional consideration (in a combination of cash and ‘stock) to be paid by the Company ' .
" upon the achievement of certain operating goals by the members of ARES. In February 2000, the Company issued 2,140 ~

~ shares.of its common stock and paid $437,5 00 in cash to the mémbers-of ARES-upon the achievement of the 'firstvppér-
~.ating goal by the members of ARES. In October 2000, thé Company issued an'additionial 2,196 shares of its'common
2 stock and paid an additional $437,500 in cash to members of ARES upon-the achieyemént‘of the second’(and final) of.

the operating goals by members of ARES. ‘ , o , : ( ’
~+ - On February 1052000, the Cbtnpény ‘acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of COMPS.COM, Inc,, ajSan
Diego based prévider,of commercial real estate information, for $49,015 ,905"in cash and 2,259,034 shares of the '

" Company’s common stock. The acquisition has been accounted for using purchase accounting and has been valued at ~

= approximately $101,3 79,000 for accouriting purposes. The purchase price was allocated prifnérily to cash, acquired tech-
: nelogy and other/intar}gibles, which is being amortized over a period of 2 to 10 years. -~ . e

- "On I\J\'ovember”9\,2040(0, CoStar completed the acquisition of First I‘rhége Technd[dgies, Inc The prifnary asset of First -

- Image is the Metropolis software system,-a single interface that combines commercial real estate data from multiple infor- - .

mation providers into a comprehensive resource. The Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of First = .

_ Image Technologies, Iric. for approxirately $665,000 in cééh and 9,424 shares of the Company’s commbon stock. The ~
© transaction was accounted for as‘a purchase and-the initial consideration was valued for accounting. purposes at approx-"

R indva‘tjely‘$9570,000 including acquisition expenses. In' addition, the acquisition agreement provides for $950,000 of addi- "

tional consideration ' (in a-combination of cash and stock) to be paid by the Company upon the achievement of certain
_ operating goals by-the sole stockholder of First Image. o o ST : ’

The operations of all acquired businesses were included in the Corrii)any’svstatemenp of operations after the respec- )
_ tive date of acquisitions. Except for the portion of the purchase price of acquisitions acquired with cash, these transac: L
- tions have been excluded from the statements of cash flows. =~ s ' I - ‘

B i‘
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P COSTARGROUPIINC S '
NOTlES TO corwsoumrrn HNANC}IA]L STATIEMENTS (CONTJINUED)

N

o

. ACQlUllSllTllONS (CONTllNUlElD) o e Y L \ .
) The Company s unaud1ted pro\forma condensed consohdated statements of operatrons for the year ended December
‘ 31 1999 and 2000, assuming the acqmsmon of Comps and Flrst Image had been consumrnated as of January 1 of: each
) ‘;perrod is- summarlzed as follows - o s : 2 o
v I - ISR “: LT ' ’ ER FortheYearEndedDecember3l
: RS EEC A A RN T . . 1999 2000

" Revenues i st '$.“30;989,000*,"‘ s 60,632,000

©Netloss. . it L el e (12,694,000) ° ~ . $ (55,458,000) °

o ’We1ghted average shares. RO L .»f;. .l‘ 11,787,000 " Co 15,398,089~
C Net loss per share - basrc and drluted ....... : e 8 S ’(‘1.08,)5 oo g T (3.60)

4, GOODWH_L ][NTANG]HBL]ES AN]D OTll—lllE]R ASSETS

C Goodwrll mtangrbles and other assets consrsts of ‘the followmg R \
. ‘ ' December 31, . 7 . December 31

: e it , o ST (T 2000 < 20017
. Caprtalrzed product development costs:s .3 e U DT $ 1, 801,146 . - 1 795, 255

Accumulatedamomzanon.../,-...;.._..‘;.ir‘;...‘.f._:_‘:..*..f..\.;:,‘,\..‘-r. < (934767) ¢ (1,173,107), -

1866379 - 7 . . . 622148

 Building photography. ST e L OO T 4466974 L 4642883
Co ‘_Acqurred database technology e s e o 17 649 324:’-\ \‘” o \.17“,9/4'9';324, o
Customerbases L. i iTu e TR e 3, GASAST . -31945487 ¢ -
- _’*Tradename. e e 4,198,000 4,198,000 "
“Goodwill .. - AL TRUE SESPPRL 37567915 - - f N 36,967, 801
| Accumulated amortlzatron.;. e (19 736012) 7 (33,854,09)

ST 75,791,688 o 61,849,399

_,\GOOdWill intan‘gibles ‘and\othe’r‘assets el liel 8 76658067 LS eA71LSAT

-

2

s RELATEDPARTYTRANSACHONS R f"‘:, :l : TN T RS -

Durrng 1997 the general partner of Realty Inforrnatron Group, Lr (“RIGLP”) a predecessor company to CoStar

Group, lnc obtained a commitment from.a partnet | for an additional $1, 000, OOO of subordinated, unsecured credit, bear- -

i ing. intérest-at the prime. interest rate plus 1%, In connection with the commitrent, the individual contrrbutlng -partner:
received warrants for the purchase of 45,450 shares of Common “Stock. The warrarits had a two—year term beyond the

. ‘Company s initial public offering and provrded for the purchase of an equwalentlnumber of shares at a price ¢  0f 10% less -
S than the price of the stock sold in the initial publi offermg ($9. 00 per share). During February 2000, the partner exer- -
B crsed warrants for the purchase of 45 450 shares by a net exercrse and recewed 35 294 shares JU oy
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.. - -NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(CONTINUED)” . -~ . ©

6. INCOMETAXES - .~ .° - S :
S “'\Th_rough]une'i(»),' 1998>\the‘ Cohipany‘opefatéa asa
-+ 1o income taxes in-1999, 2000 o 2001. e : o . ST
. I T S e %7 December 31, . _Decémber.31, -

S AT, ’ LML 2000 T STagop L L

) "Déferrécl’-téfassets:- ‘ ) j‘:‘.i S IR K _"r"ﬁ x ST ‘

. Reserveforbad debts. ... oL Lo S enl 8 1116139 $. .958,860°
. Accrued COMPENnsation . ... .. .. ... . .0 CeeereetT o 73605600 e 1,540,641 .. .

. . N

_Net operating losses -.". .. ... .. R ceieeecee oL T 30,483,747 S - 28,999,888

. Other liabilities. . .. ... .. .. S 3,553,488 2310928 .

pa‘rthérship\fo\r fggie{_igil‘in?gmc;ta:x plirpbses; The Coﬁlpény\ paid K /

L Total deferred tax dssets. ... L svieee 37889430 33810317 <
: e‘feri'édt_gx\'lia_b@l_itigs{\ ST . T )

-+ Depreciation. ... e L6039 T (772400
"~ . Product development costs. ... ..., ... T Coo 0 (334,596) R (240,274
' (12,224 456

- Tdentified intangibles associated with purchais’edc@qﬁting. Jeo . (18,092,461) ‘ -
 Total deferred tax liabilities . ..., .-, ool (190183096) T (13237130)

- Net deferred tax asset.. U Cl ceen 1,'8;706,334" < T 7:20,573,1"8\7' s
. '\[ailuation ’alloW,a‘ncé’. e T e i R Jooui T (19,693,596} ' . . ©.(20,573,187)- .“

~

. ) ‘_ ‘:‘Net aefergcd‘tza_xes:. R S R PR 2§ (987262) R T | PR

A valuation-allowance hasbeen eéte{blished‘agairist the related het_ déférréd tax assets due to the uncertainty of real-
. izatiori. The Company’s change in valuation allowance was approxirnately $13,323,000 and $880,000 during the years

. ended Décember 31, 2000.and 2001, respectively. The valuation allowance :and net operating losses at Decemiber 31, * |

. ~ e

2001 have been réduced to reflect return to accrual adjustrerits.

o The‘Cb}npany’é pr_évis_ior; for inf;omé tél)‘(esxresplted in effective tax r‘vefte\s that varied from the‘s\tatutory'federalymvciorjilé )
tax rate as follows: . * .7 oo o T o N S
' PN S i'De;cem‘t'")er‘,31, "~ 7 December 31, . December 3, .. -
, AR ‘ o ST e e T 1999 _~.2000 © - 2001 - -
. “Expected federal incomé tax-provision (benefit) ar 34% .+, -8 (4,174,000). :$(17,577,988). - $(7,190,521)

"+ State income taxes, net of federal benefit . .. ... ... Tt (567,200) 0 0 7(2,388,538) 0 (951,283) . -
- .. - “Inctease in valuation allowance . . . ... .. e ©.5,277;100° 19,405,316 . .. 6,964,808 .

i o, Expefses not deductible for tax purposes. .. .. Ceveesooes - (535,900) 1 ©(1,483,804) - 189,734 e
o " Defeired income tax benefit. ... Ll 8 DT $ 2,045014)  $ (987262) o

_ At December 31,2001, the. Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of - '
approximately $75,090,337, which expire, if unused, from the'year-2010 through the year 2021. The tax benefit of
approximately $10.7 million of net operating losses related to stock options will be credited to equity when the benefitof - - .
~“these- losses is. realized through utilization’ of the. net operating: loss carryforwards. Additionally, during 2000; the: .
~ ~.Company acquired a company that had net operating losses of .approximately $19;359,000, which expire, if unused, .. .
. > through the year 2019. The use of these acquired net, operating losses s subject to limitation-imposed by.the Internal S

" Revenue Code and is also restricted to the taxable income of the subsidiaries generating the losses. .

"t ~During 1999 and 2000, the Company made acquisitions, “which were reported using the .purchase method. of .

* - - accounting, Theése acquiisitions included identified-intangible assets, which in-accordance with FAS 109, required deferred -

. < taxes'and related-goodwill to be recorded. Additionally, net operating losses from' theacquired companies and thenet .
- operating_losses from CoStar prior to the acquisition, totaling approximately: $39,600,000, were valued in connection . -
- with"the acquisition. The. reversal of these deferred taxes in future periods. may result in additions to: the valuation™ -

: tion regarding future realization, -
- . [ - _‘ . R T - N = , . L -
. . - . H E_]- 2 N
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O fNorrs ro corxrsormmrrn FINANCIAL STATEM]ENTS (coNrrNUED)

A COMMHMJENTS ’ B T
- . - The Company leases offrce\ fac1ht1es and offlce equrpment under wvarious noncancelable operatmg leases The leases o
© contain various: renewal options. Rent- expense for the years, ended December 31 1999 2000 and 2001 “was approxr— s
mately $2 440 000, $5 595; 000 and $5 346, 000, respectlvely AT S N - 5
) \’ Future m1mmum lease payments as of December 31 2001 are asfollows ST R o ;‘ T h ) . .
T 2002: ... e e L s e e ,f s 4,277,000
2003 3 SIS SO e e T e " ‘ /[3383000
2004 e T D T e D B A S R PR \ 3,113, 000 .- Lo
2005 e g e T e S e 8870000 T
2006 and thereafter e e B e PRRRA :..' :' . .11,081,000 . ..o -
. R O Ca Sl sz4743000 '

8 SA]L]ES OF COMMONSTOCK R T Fir AR )

R On ]uly 1, 1998 the Company completed an 1n1t1al pubhc offerlng (“H’O”) of 2 875 000 shares of common stock L
(1nclud1ng the over: allotment optron) for $9.00- per ‘share. Total proceedsof the. IPO were $22 737 000, after deducrmg, T
. "underwriting discounts and commissions of $1,811,000 -and, offering expenses of $1,326,000.: On May 105 1999, the o
I Coipany completed a Follow- On’ Publlc ‘Offering of 3,019,495 shares of common stock (mcludmg the over- allotment .
o option) for $34.50 per share Total proceéds of the. Follew-On Public Offenng were $97, 411 OOO after deductmg under— k
fwntmg drscounts and. comrmssrons and offenng expenses of $1 024 OOO R I S T T

S 9 N]ET LOSS ]PE]R SHARE 7 ° 07 <0 Al e e
. The fonowmg table sets forth the computatlon of ba51c and dlluted net loss per share ST ST
L e B T D ?‘f YeaIsEndedDecember31 e po
O LTI e dege s L 000 L _2001 - SCIINE

R Numerator T VA e SR R S A " '
T - Net. loss . ... \. !./\., AR R ::\ e i $ (12 276 673) $‘~(49,6254;9,49~) : $x(2‘0,161,329);

Denommator R S “ " C - V” N N N g < '
Denommator for: bas1c earnmgs per share— T T T s L Ll e S
werghted -average shares T b 1'1—,,726,58»9; 15 136 976 S 15,635,931"

Effect of dilutive securities: - B S I N
D1lut1ve potent1al common shares._".;. Cieehetenagaiay ! S e ';A s “5"; s = SR
/ Denomlnator for diluted: earnings per share — EE P ST o P
o adjusted werghted average shares iy Ve ol "11"726"58‘9 S 155136,9760 ¢ 15 635 93t 3 o
: * Basic and drluted fiet loss-per’s share: . 1. v ST T ¢ 8 05) $ (3280 8 - (L 29) -
The werghted average number of shares does not mclude stock optrons and warrants outstandlng of 1 352 142 S
1 716,957 and'1, 839 719 as of December 1999 2000 and 2001 respectrvely, as’ the1r effect would be ant1 drlutwe for the
perlods presented e oS T e s D e e e e ’
p e - ; | : F-13 L : \J) :
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. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SIA’J‘IEMIENI S~ (CONTINUED)

| 10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS ' -
Option Plan BRI , S /
" “In March 1996 RIGLP adopted the 1996 Option and Purchase Plan (the “1996 Plan”

), under-which 606,000 shares -

*. of Common Stock were reserved for issuance upon the exercise of options granted to officers, executive personnel, direc-

tors and key employees. Certain options previously granted were included in the 1996 Plan. In"connection with the IPO,
all of the options granted under the 1996 Plan were replaced with options under the 1998 Plan (as defined below).

In June 1998 the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the Stock Incentive Plan (‘the\“‘1998‘,l’lan”) prior to consum- -

" mation of the IPO. The 1998 Plan provides for the grant of stock and stock options to officers, directors and employees of -

the Company and its subsidiaries. Options granted inder the 1998 Plan may be ‘incentive or non-qualified stock options. The
exercisé price for a stock option may not be less than the fair market value of the Company’s-Common Stock-on the date of
- grant. Upon the occtirrence of a Change of Control, as defined in the1998 Plan, all outstanding unexercisable options under -
- the 1998 Plan immediately become exercisable. The Company has reserved 3,750,000 shares of ¢common stock for issuance.
. under the 1998 Plan. Unless terminated sooner by the Board of Directors; the 1998 Plan will terminate in 2008. - '
- Option activity was as follows: : ) S R
g ‘ o RSN S0 - Weighted-

Nuﬁber of . i{rice’ Per . " Average
o o e . S " Shares + ©_ |  Share = . . ‘Exercise Price -
 Outstanding at Decémber 31,1998 .................. 877,494, - o $ 677
©. Granted.:....... L R O . 635945 0§ 9.00-$48.000 . $27.17
- Exercised.......... el S (121,907) 0 4§ 5.63-$34.95 - $ 762
- Canceled orexpired. .. ..... ..l -(39,390) 0 $ 4.07-$48.00 . - $1825
Outstandingat December 31,1999 ...:.....0c...0.0 1352142 - - . © $15.95
“Granted ... ... 00 S 840,950 - $20.13-$5213 ©.$28.43
‘Exercised.....o......... R S (269,776) - $.3.45-$30.00 $ 8.26
. Canceled orexpired....................... Lheds o 1(206,359) 0 8 5:63-849:50 . $26.15 /
- Outstanding at December 31,2000 ........... . ... = 1716957 o L 82205
~ Granted:........... S : 544,550 $15.06-$29.69 . $20.88 .
" " Exercised-..........: C(167,739)  °$ 3.45-$24.88 ¢ $10.24
, Canceled or expired. . . R T (254,049) © © $ 7.44-$4475 - $26.16
© Outstanding at December 31,2001 ..,...... e 1,839,719 S 822200
.. Exercisable at December 31,2001-............ R 847686 - T . Tl 81944
’Exé{cisable at Decfember)?)l, 2000 .. v . . 686,887 L o $1:4._5'9 ]
‘Ex‘er‘cisable,at Decembe/r 31,1999 ........ ERR R S 531,530 0 o e o $ 8.89 ‘

"The Company follows the disclosure-provisions'of SEAS No. 123.. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been rec-
ognized for the Plan. Had compensation expense related to the Plan been determined based on the fair value at'the grant
. date for options granted consistent with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, Company’s pro forma net loss and net loss per -
share would have been ‘abproximatel‘y $16,824,000, $57,597,000 and $27,920,000, and $1.43, $3.81 and $1.79 for the . - .
 ‘years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001, respectively. Such pro forma results are not representative of the effects.

on.operations for future years. - . . : L

' The Weighted average fair value of ~0p/ti0n.§ granted during 1999 was $19:6O~Ausing the Black-Schcﬂes optiof)—pricirig
* - model with the following assumptions: dividend yield 0%, expected volatility of 90%, risk-free interest rate of 5.0%, and

/- expected life of five years.. The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2000 was $20:44 using the Black- -

. Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions: dividend yield 0%, expected volatility of 87%, risk-free
"« interest rate of 6.3%, and expected life of five years. The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2001 was -~
.. $20.88 using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with thefollowing assimptions: dividend yield 0%, expected volatil- -

ity of 100%, risk-fre¢ intétest rate of 5.5%, and expected life of five years. D \

R4




T T e COSTARGROUPI[NC
' NOTIES To CONSOLH)AT]ED HNANC}IAJL STAT]EMENTS (CONMNUED)
_ ‘EMPLOYEEBENEHMLANS(CONMD) RV UL S
- The followmg table summarrzes information regardmg Opthl’lS outstandmg at December 31 2001 oo
' e A o i OpuonsOutstandmg Lo A OptlonsExercrsed
ARt ; o N > Average - " Weighted- - . B Welghted-
e ' A . " Number of Contractual Life 1 “Average 'pNum‘b'er,ofr . . Average, .
Exercise Price ©. ", -~ o Shates - " " (In Years). Exercise Price . Shares . ~ . Exercise Price - [~
C$3.45-8 9.00. 0 e er e 1 2 360,712 ST 63 7 628 360,712 628 - ’
81263 -$17.97 ... Leiefon slo0768 o 9 L 71682 Tt 7367 L 18707
"vj$18,06‘$1806.r../.;....v'./../...”...,‘,.w"227500: © 93, T 1806 0 v -0
1831 2 $23.06 s e e 2111330 84 2157 0935‘ o7
1$23.25-$26.88. ... ... Toelo 234240 S84 2501 56, 126 °70 2478 o
$27.00 83000 i ae.ieb. i 3692500 ¢ 80 - 291 - ~.230,080- "~ 2983 .0
0 $30.75-$33.13. .. e o 229916 Loodhgy T 3186 L 63,597 31730
- $3425-846.81. it -114209; C 790 0 3809 15,8286, . 3865 .
, 3$52 13- $52 13 2,000 0 T 82 52137 583 5213 0

1839719 ° 80 j»zzzo - 847686 1944

On September 28 2001, the Company granted a total of 5,000 shares of restricted stock to the non- employee d1rec-
tors of the Company: The stock grants vest'over & four-year’ period with 25% of the stock vesting on each anniversary of
 the’ grant date. The Company recorded $89,800 i in deferred compensatron expense: The deferred compensation-is calcu-
! lated at the falr value on: the grant date and is bemg amortrzed over the vestrng per1od of the restrlcted stock '

’ j;Employee 401(8) Plan -

S "The Company maintains a defrned contrrbunon retirement. plan for all ellgrble employees Effectrve ]anuary 1,1997, )
- the Corhipany establishied 2401 (k) Plan (the 40 l(k)”) to provide retirement - benefits for cligible employees "The 401(k)

»4',-

T prov1des fortax deferred contributions of between 1% and 15% of employees’ salarles, limited to a maximum annual .

* amount as estabhshed by the Internal Revenue Service. The Company matchéd 100% in 1999,2000.and 2001 of émploy- -

" ‘ee contributions up to'a maximum-of 6% of total compensation. Amounts- contributed 1 to the 401 (k) by the Company to.
. match employee s contributions- for the years ended December 31 1999 2000 and 2001 were approxrmately $364 OOO t
. $698 OOO and $1 209 000 respectrvely A DR ; :

. ‘/’r




C e T COSTARGROUP ING. R TR
- N@T]ES r@ CONS@]LM)AT]ED FINANCIAL STATEMJENTS WQWH\IUED), L

M QUARTIERILY IFI[NANC]IA]L DATA (UNAUDH]ED)

. The followmg table’ has been prepared from the ﬁnancral records of the Company, Wlthout audrt and reflects all
"~ adjustments that are, in the opinion of management, necessary for the fair presentation of the results of operations for the
- _interim periods presented (in thousands, except per share amounts). The sum-of the per-share amounts do not equal the -

+ annual amounts presented in the audlted frnancral statements because of the changes in the Werghted average number of
. shares outstandlng dunng the year o ' . ,

- T Y 000 T R 2001
. Mar.31 . —June30 . Sept 30" - Dec 31 . Mar, 31 June30 : Sept. 30 Dec. 31.
E Lo e T ) (i Thousands) - o R
- Revenues....... ..o $11372 $14,572° $15717 - $16841 $17,354 $18073 $18,447° $18639],-
 Cost of revenues. .. Lo - 59777 7730 8356 . 84139 . o 7990 7,516 7,532 - 7278
Grossmargln...'...:'...\.‘.\..'; 5,395 76,842 - 7,361 '\ 8,702 ..9,364 10,557 10,915 11,36:1:* e
B - Opefating expenses ... ... 22,090 (21571 20,261 " 19,413 - 17,629 16,867 15728 ° 14499 /
o Lossfrornoperatrons.,.:r’l‘.': (16695) - (14,729) (12,900, (10,711) " (8,265)  (6,310) '(4,813) (3, 338)‘) :
§ . - Other income (expense}, net'.j\f 1,026 o751 o0 807 .0 751 87 374 o 348 <281 ‘
SR Incometax benefit, .. .. .50 " 365 o845 - 523 1120 - 41 . 41 452 7T 453 - .
Net loss . © ... .“.;.....‘:‘:.\.\.‘.$.<15;1o’4)“$(1‘3,'133)‘f$(11,57fo> $(9,848) $<7 649} $<5 ,895)- $(4 013) $(2,604)f
Netlosspershare— - Ty T
*basicand diluted. ... "8 (1.06) § - (0.85) § (0.75) $<(O.64)..'$ (o 49) $ (O.38)~~ s (0.26). $ (0.17)-
) . LA ]F_}]_6 \v ’:::' 3 .y ’\ A“ Lo ‘ \l ‘/—;‘, S
~ , RN !
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